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What does it take to build
successful brands
around the world?

Fosters Annual Report '98  7/7/99 9:47 PM  Page 1



Contents

2 Foster’s Brewing Group 
Around the World

4 Chairman’s Statement
6 Business Portfolio
8 Report from the President 

and Chief Executive Officer
Question and Answer

24 Financial Commentary
26 Review of Operations
26 Carlton and United Breweries
30 Mildara Blass
32 Foster’s International
34 Foster’s Asia
36 Molson
37 Lensworth and 

Corporate Assets

38 Sponsorship and Community
39 Board of Directors
40 Corporate Governance
42 Shareholder Information
43 Historical Summary
44 Executives and Foster’s 

Brewing Group Contacts
45 Directors’ Report, 

Financial Statements and 
Statutory Information

Foster’s Brewing Group is a global beer and wine company dedicated
to delivering premium branded products to consumers in more than
130 countries around the world.

Foster’s Brewing Group Limited ACN 007 620 886
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Foster’s Brewing Group Limited  Around the World2

Every day millions of people around the wo

South East Asia
Foster’s
Foster’s Ice
Wolf Blass
Biere Larue
sub zero

Australasia
Victoria Bitter
Carlton Cold
Foster’s
Foster’s LightIce
sub zero

North America
Foster’s
Wolf Blass
Black Opal

Wolf Blass
Yellowglen
Yarra Ridge
Annie’s Lane
Robertson’s Well

Catering to a global market 

South East Asia

Australasia

North America

In more than 130 countries around the world, Foster’s offers consumers quality products and 
premium brands which enhance enjoyment of everyday life and special celebrations.
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world enjoy the quality of Foster’s brands.

North East Asia
Foster’s
Shanghai
Guangming

Britain
Foster’s
Foster’s Ice
Wolf Blass
Jamiesons Run
sub zero

Europe
Foster’s
Foster’s Ice
Wolf Blass
Jamiesons Run
sub zero

Middle East
Foster’s
Foster’s Ice

South America
Foster’s
sub zero

Europe

Middle East

North East Asia

Britain

South America
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Foster’s Brewing Group Limited  Chairman’s Introduction4

The last financial year was one of sound progress
for Foster’s Brewing Group. The company achieved
outstanding results in its core beer and wine 
businesses and has established a sound platform
for profitable growth through the sale of the UK 
pub business, disposal of the investment in the
Molson partnership on very advantageous terms,
and the provisions made for restructuring.

What was particularly noteworthy was the sustained
high performance of Carlton and United Breweries,
which achieved double digit profit growth for the
sixth consecutive year. The company’s wine division,
Mildara Blass, improved its share of the domestic
premium wine segment, and added another dimension
to its successful international operations through 
the acquisition of wine clubs in Europe to which 
it can add value by exporting its expertise in wine
club operation.

The profit performance was very encouraging with
earnings before abnormal items rising despite the
substantial increase in tax liability. Tax losses had
reduced the tax charge against earnings in prior
years. The net profit after abnormal items was 
augmented by the profit on sale of investments less
the provisions made for restructuring. The higher 
tax charge has the offsetting benefit to shareholders
that the total dividend of 11 cents per share paid
out of the past year’s earnings will be fully franked
for the first time.

Consequent upon the review of our businesses, 
the Board has decided to consolidate the Chinese
operations of the company in the face of intense
competition and our over-capacity in the industry.
From our base in Shanghai, we will have a solid
foundation in what will be the world’s largest beer
market in the new millennium. Combined with 
prudent, timely investment in the emerging 
markets of Vietnam and India, Foster’s Asia 
is set to take advantage of future regional growth.

The financial position of the company has been 
significantly strengthened by the capital transactions
and the restructure on which the company has
embarked. As a consequence it is well positioned
for profitable growth in the years ahead. 

John T Ralph AO
Chairman of Directors
Foster’s Brewing Group

Chairman’s Statement
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Highlights

• Foster’s Brewing Group increased pre-abnormal 

earnings per share by 16.1%

• 25.3% rise in profit before interest and tax

– based on an increase in average funds employed 

of only 2.7%

• First year of full franking

• The completion of the $625 million share buy-back, 

reducing shares on issue by 13%

• The widespread distribution of Foster’s shares following 

the sell down of BHP’s 36.5% shareholding in the company

• Carlton and United Breweries profit 15.7% higher

– the sixth consecutive year of double digit growth

– higher margins and return on funds employed

• Mildara Blass profit 44.2% higher

• Two breweries acquired in Vietnam

• Foster’s India brewery near Mumbai commissioned

• Inntrepreneur Pub Company and Molson interests sold
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Foster’s Brewing Group Limited  Business Portfolio6

Business Portfolio

Business portfolio

Key brands

Scale – Volume

Major markets

Number of employees

Key statistics

Carlton and United Breweries

Carlton and United Breweries is an industry and
market leader in the production, marketing, sale
and distribution of beer and innovative alcoholic
beverages. CUB’s Australian Leisure and Hospitality
division (ALH) owns and operates hotels and liquor
retail outlets, and the Carlton Special Beverages
business is Australia’s leading importer and distributor
of international beers and spirits. BrewTech, CUB’s
technology, research and implementation business,
is an innovator in bio-resource products and global
brewery establishment.

Victoria Bitter, Foster’s LightIce, Carlton Cold,
Crown Lager, Carlton Draught, Foster’s Extra,
Foster’s, Cascade Premium, Carlton Midstrength,
Carlton Premium Dry, sub zero. Key imported
brands include Guinness, Corona, Heineken, 
Miller Genuine Draught, Bacardi and Jim Beam.

Six Australian breweries, including Abbotsford,
Kent, Yatala, Cascade, Matilda Bay and Darwin.
Two Fijian breweries and one Fijian distillery. 
Total capacity 13 million hectolitres. The ALH 
portfolio includes 159 hotels and 80 liquor 
retail outlets (including the Austotel properties).

Majority share of Australian beer market (56.1%).
Market leader in premium, low alcohol, full-strength
and imported beer market segments. Produces
Australia’s most popular beer, VB. An innovator
and leader in the creation of hotel-based leisure
environments offering a range of facilities in
Victoria, Queensland, New South Wales and
Western Australia.  Total sales for 1997/98 
of 9.98 million hectolitres.

4035

Capital employed (period end): $1,946 million
Revenue: $1,934.7 million.

Mildara Blass

A top six profit earner in the global wine industry,
with one third of revenue earned overseas, Mildara
Blass is a premium, multi-brand business with 
multiple income streams. They include traditional 
vertically integrated operations in Australia selling
to both domestic and overseas markets, overseas
winemaking, wine clubs (direct marketing) both
domestically and internationally as well as a wine
industry services business.

Wolf Blass, Yellowglen, Jamiesons Run, 
Black Opal, Andrew Garrett, Yarra Ridge, 
Saltram, Rothbury Estate, Annie’s Lane, 
St Huberts, Robertson’s Well.

A total of 14 operational wineries with seven 
in South Australia, six in Victoria, and one in 
New South Wales. Collectively they produce 
a total vintage capacity of 38 million litres. 
The total area under vine is 3100 hectares.

Significant share of Australia’s premium sparkling
wine market (around 40%) and approximately
25% of Australia’s premium table wine market.
The US, Britain and Europe are Mildara Blass’
largest international markets. 

1463

Capital employed (period end): $929 million 
Revenue: $418.8 million 
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Foster’s Asia

Foster’s Asia brews, markets and distributes beer 
in Asian markets from three breweries in China*, 
two in Vietnam and one in India. This strategic
footprint provides access to more than half the
world’s population. Foster’s Special Beverages
markets and distributes a number of CUB and
international brands in Hong Kong.

Foster’s, Foster’s Ice, Shanghai, Guangming, 
Biere Larue and BGI.

Six breweries located across Asia, in Shanghai,
Tianjin* and Guangdong* in China; Da Nang and 
Ho Chi Minh City in Central and South Vietnam; 
and near Mumbai, India; with a total capacity 
of 4 million hectolitres.

The launch of Foster’s in Mumbai, India and Ho Chi
Minh City, Vietnam, with Shanghai, Hong Kong and
Beijing, brings to five the number of core development
markets for Foster’s Asia. Brand volume growth,
distribution and awareness are rising on the back
of increased investment behind the brand in each of
these markets.

2683

Capital employed (period end): $65 million
Revenue: $65.1 million

* The Tianjin and Guangdong breweries are designated for sale.

Foster’s International

Foster’s International is responsible for the 
stewardship, development and governance of the
Foster’s brand worldwide. Its activities include the
identification and development of new markets,
management of international brewing and marketing
agreements and the development of new and existing
marketing initiatives, including global sponsorships.

Foster’s, Foster’s Ice, sub zero

Six regional offices, in Australia, Britain, the United
States, Hong Kong, South America and the Middle
East. Foster’s International markets and distributes
Foster’s brands in more than 130 countries around
the world. The total volume sold for 1997/98 was
7.4 million hectolitres (93 million cases). 

In Britain, beer drinkers enjoy nearly two million
pints of Foster’s every day and Foster’s is the 
top-selling beer brand in London and the second
largest seller nationally. Foster’s Ice is Britain’s 
top-selling ice beer. Foster’s is rated number eight
across Europe and is the only non-European beer
in the top 20. In the United States, Foster’s is now
ranked as the sixth largest imported brand.

26

Capital employed (period end): $29 million
Revenue: $36.5 million
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8 Foster’s Brewing Group Limited Report from President and Chief Executive Officer Ted Kunkel

“In over 130 countries,
where people gather 
to relax and enjoy life, 
we provide quality 
products and premium
brands with a heritage
that is proudly Australian.”

Ted Kunkel
President and Chief Executive Officer
Foster’s Brewing Group
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Q. What were the highlights 
of the past year?

A. It was a very busy year. We started by buying
back 13% of our shares. We sold our interest 
in the Inntrepreneur Pub Company. We bought 
two breweries in Vietnam; we built one in India. 
We purchased Cellarmaster Wines in Australia and
The Wine Exchange in Holland. Wine production
began in Chile and California. Midway through the
year, we restructured our North American brewing
interests. That was a prelude to selling our stake in
Molson Breweries at the close of the year. In addition,
we purchased the Cascade brand distribution rights
in Tasmania, and bought a small distillery in Fiji,
which has given us a spirits production capability. 
It was just an amazingly active year. And, of course,
since then we have purchased the Austotel pubs.

However, in a year of highlights, there are two
which stand out in my mind. The first was the market’s
ready acceptance of the 36.5% of Foster’s shares
outstanding following BHP’s decision to sell its
holding in the company. Despite the size of the
placement, completed in October, the share price
at the year’s end was 54.5% higher than it was 
at the beginning of the year, indicating that the
unfolding value of the company and the hard work
of its many employees have been recognised by
the market. That has been very satisfying.

Report from President and 
Chief Executive Officer Ted Kunkel

Foster’s Brewing Group Limited Report from President and Chief Executive Officer Ted Kunkel10

The other highlight has been the overall financial
performance. A couple of statistics are worth 
mentioning. Our group operating profit before
interest and tax rose by a strong 25.3% with an
increase in average funds employed of only 2.7%.
Our return on equity was boosted by 2.1 percentage
points and the return on total funds employed
increased by 2.4 percentage points. These are
sustainable increases which form the foundation
for still better outcomes ahead.

This acceleration in returns is what we have been
steering the company towards for several years
now. Much of the restructuring during this period,
and some assets which were contributing little,
concealed the progress in the core businesses, 
but the results are now on paper for all to see 
and we can look forward to a continuing increase
in returns from the overall business. Achieving that
acceleration in value growth – which underwrites
future share price appreciation – was definitely a
highlight during the past year.

Q&A

Yellowglen gave a sparkling
performance at wine shows
during the year.
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We will be moving to become one of the main
brewers in the Asian region. Our investments in
the region are for the long-term and our brand
development activities should show some returns
over this period.

I have talked about the international aspects of 
the business first because I want to emphasise
that we are very much an Australian company with
an international perspective. But Australian we are,
and the Australian business is still likely to be at
the heart of our activities.

Of course, within Australia we have a familiarity
with the culture and the business environment
which allows us to push further down the value
chain than we might be prepared to go in other
countries. We are working towards becoming a
fully integrated alcoholic beverage and leisure
business. For example, we have developed a very
successful business within the leisure sector,
based upon our historical investment in Australian
pubs, which has taken us into gaming as well as
other aspects of alcoholic drinks retailing.

Q. Where you would like to see the
company positioned in five years’ time?

A. We have defined Foster’s as a premium-branded
beverage company with a focus on beer and wine.

We see ourselves as global brand managers with
particular expertise in the various facets of producing
and selling international beer and wine products.

In five years’ time, I would expect that to still be
the case although there will be differences in
emphasis from where we are today.

I would expect the Foster’s brand to have 
consolidated its position as one of the few genuinely
global beer brands in the world. Already more than
80% of the Foster’s brand sales are made outside
Australia. There will be a rising profit contribution 
from the brand.

Our presence in the international wine market should
be even stronger. We have already begun producing
in California and we have a joint venture in Chile 
to produce wine for sale in Europe and the US. 
In five years I expect the geographic spread of 
the business to be even more extensive. We have
already begun to export our Cellarmaster-style direct
wine marketing business to international markets.
That business too, will be a more significant contributor
from a broader international customer base.

1998 Annual Report Report from President and Chief Executive Officer Ted Kunkel 11
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As Australia’s leading
brewer, CUB offers 
consumers the country’s
top-selling full-strength,
light, tap, premium and
imported beers. CUB’s
excellence and innovation
is recognised and rewarded

by the patronage of its
customers and consumers.
The secret to CUB’s success
is a winning combination
of high quality market-
attuned brands, operational
efficiency and a dynamic
workplace culture.

Obar
Surry Hills 
Sydney
Australia

CUB is Australia’s leading brewer with more than 56% of the national beer market.
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Beer
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Foster’s Brewing Group Limited Report from President and Chief Executive Officer Ted Kunkel14

Q. Where does capital management fit
into this picture and do you believe it
adds anything to shareholder value?

A. We are strongly committed to maximising value
for our shareholders. In managing the business, 
we have to be aware of every opportunity.
Benchmarking returns against the cost of capital,
reducing the cost of capital through appropriate
use of gearing and being prepared to return capital
to shareholders if that is how they are best rewarded,
are all part of our continuing discipline.

Anyone looking at the company over the past several
years would have clearly seen that discipline being
applied. We have been prepared to forsake size 
for a better return, and I would cite as examples
the sale of the Courage brewing business in 
1995 and, more recently, the sale of our interest 
in Molson Breweries. 

The decision last year to buy back 13% of our
shares is also indicative of our focus on maximising
value. Our action reduced the weighted average 
cost of capital by about one and a half percentage
points. On a capital base of around $4 billion, 
as it then was, that would have been equivalent 
to debt funding a $1 billion dollar acquisition 
and achieving an immediate EBIT return of 
15%. Outstanding value for shareholders. 

As we look for strategic acquisitions around the
globe, we assess each potential acquisition individually
against internal finance hurdles and the comparative
benefits of returning funds to shareholders.

Q&A Report from President and 
Chief Executive Officer Ted Kunkel

Q. Can we expect the same sort of
share price performance in 1999 that
we have enjoyed in the last year?

A. As a shareholder, I certainly hope so, but I 
leave it to others to make that type of forecast. 
We all know that events well beyond our control
can affect share prices for lengthy periods.

What I can say is that the Board and management
are committed to making decisions based on their
effect on fundamental business value. We also need
to be conscious of the financial performance of
other companies in the Australian market because
we must be competitive if we are to continue to
make a claim on investors’ funds. Maintaining
focus on these variables increases the chance of
the share price performing as we would all like it to.

International Advertising
Foster’s award winning
“Australian for beer” 
campaign has high recall
among US consumers.

Carlton Cold – Australia's
first cold-filtered beer is a 
winning innovation.
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1998 Annual Report Report from President and Chief Executive Officer Ted Kunkel 15

The second achievement would be, quite simply,
saving the company back in 1992. Nothing else
would have been possible without doing that first.
That was not one decision but many made by many
people. But it did require a disciplined approach
over several years and it has only been in the 
past year that the job has been completed. 
It would have been very easy to panic, and then all
would have been lost. Thankfully, today we have 
a strong company with excellent growth prospects.

And, thirdly, I think the bold decision to sell Courage
in 1995 and switch those funds from a difficult
business climate into a high growth industry, 
the wine business, has undoubtedly made 
shareholders better off.

Q. What have been the three decisions
which have added the most value for
shareholders in the past few years – 
the things which you are most proud 
to be associated with?

A. The thing that gives me the most pleasure is
the outstandingly successful track record of our
Australian brewing operations. Back in 1992 when
things weren’t going so well, no one would have
thought that six years of 14.1% pa average profit
growth was a realistic hope. Those of us who had
been a part of the business for a long time knew,
however, the latent strength of CUB and its people.
The CUB team’s job was to realise that strength;
to draw out its own potential. I am pleased to say
that the team has achieved its goal. However, 
you can’t rest on your laurels. We have to keep
performing. But if there is a company in Australia
that can, it is CUB. The CUB team’s total commitment
to achieving its Lead Enterprise goals has 
continuously driven growth.

Robertson's Well – one
of the fast growing Mildara
Blass brands.
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around the world, Foster’s,
is now available on every
continent, sold in more
than 130 countries and
made in 20 breweries 
in nine countries.

Foster’s is the world’s
fastest growing interna-
tional beer brand with
growth of more than 
60% in the past five years.
Australia’s famous beer

Britons enjoy 2,000,000 pints of Foster’s every day.

Warborough 
and Shillingford
Cricket Club 
Oxfordshire UK
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Foster’s Brewing Group Limited  Report from President and Chief Executive Officer Ted Kunkel18

St Huberts - one of the
key Mildara Blass brands.

Q. Have there been mistakes in the past
few years – for instance the investment
in China? How would you rate that as a
contributor to shareholder value?

A. We can’t hide from the fact that the investment
in China has reduced shareholder value. Does that
mean that we should not have gone to China? No,
I think that the arguments in 1992 and 1993 were
compelling and while the strategic reasons for entering
the Chinese market haven’t changed, there has clearly
been a change in the Chinese business environment.
The beer markets have become far more crowded
than they were expected to be and the opportunity
for profitability has been greatly reduced.

Lead Enterprise companies cannot afford to be
averse to risk. Like any investors, however, they
need to recognise and manage the risk, and they
need to have a strong sense of their goals and
performance benchmarks to ensure that they know
when they need to change strategy. In the past year,
conditions in our China business have changed to
an extent that we have had to modify the strategy.
Consequently, we announced at the end of August
that we had decided to focus on Shanghai, which
has China’s best-established premium segment
and where we have our biggest and most 
modern brewery. 

Q. We thought that this was a successful
company – we had no sense there were
problems. How can you justify write-offs
of 7.4% of assets?

A. The majority of the write-offs relate to our Chinese
assets. Those which make up the balance place us
in a prudent and conservative position in other aspects
of our business. In rethinking our approach to China
we have had to take action to reduce our operating
losses. Through that action, we will inevitably increase
the company’s net profit and EPS.

While the company’s net assets have been reduced,
one would expect the market capitalisation of the
company to increase, given that we have stemmed
our losses. We plan to be in China for the long
haul and we could not continue to sustain the 
current level of loss in the longer term. The success
of our broader Asian strategy, encompassing prudent,
timely investment in the emerging markets of
Vietnam and India, should not be compromised 
by non-performing assets in China. While we took
what turned out to be an over-aggressive tack in
China, we have in the same period strengthened
our Asian regional strategy and added significant
value to other parts of the business - CUB, Mildara, ALH.
On balance, the value of the overall business has been
significantly enhanced by our strategy since 1992.

Q&A Report from President and 
Chief Executive Officer Ted Kunkel
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1998 Annual Report Report from President and Chief Executive Officer Ted Kunkel 19

Q. You have referred to CUB’s 
performance. Can you give us some
insight into the source of its success
and how that success will be maintained?

A. The CUB mindset – its commitment to a 
style of doing business – is at the heart of CUB’s
continued high performance. We call it the Lead
Enterprise philosophy. Underpinning CUB’s
approach is the assumption that simply being market
leader is not good enough. Throughout CUB, 
there is constant innovation in both processes 
and product development. 

CUB has strong national brands which are leaders
and innovators in their respective categories, backed
by regional brands catering for local preferences,
and micro-brewery brands. 

We do not expect any single initiative to dominate
continued profit increases. We have quite deliberately
set up a style of business where the contribution
to growth will be made from a wide range of
sources including:

• continuing to bolt smart, synergistic businesses
like CUB’s pub business around core competencies 

• maximising opportunities in the quickly growing
premium beer market

• building volumes in areas of Australia where 
we are not as strong as in our traditional areas 
of operation

• greater internal efficiencies; and

• working with customers to improve delivery 
efficiency and inventory planning.

VB – Australia's top-selling beer.
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The company’s expansion
strategy includes export
development, overseas
wine production, and
development of wine
club businesses 
internationally.

A strong presence in 
the domestic premium
market and the strength
of the Mildara Blass
brands provided the
company with a base for
expansion in overseas
markets during the year.

Mildara Blass exported a record 1,000,000 cases of premium Australian wine in 1997/98.

L’Ermitage 
Beverly Hills 
Los Angeles US
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Wine
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Foster’s Brewing Group Limited  Report from President and Chief Executive Officer Ted Kunkel22

Q. What about international 
brewing opportunities?

A. Acquiring brewing businesses does not make
sense unless they can add value. Such opportunities
are scarce. We are working hard in many international
markets focusing on the Foster’s brand. Our operating
model has changed: we no longer see ourselves
as having to operate breweries unless there is a
business or strategic advantage. The sale of Courage
in 1995 and Molson more recently, illustrate this
point. Shareholders are better off in both cases.
And in both cases the Foster’s brand is continuing
to grow strongly.

Of course, having said that, we are still on the look
out for good international acquisitions. Our modus
operandi is to import or license to get a feel for a
country, then advance if appropriate.

Q&A Report from President and 
Chief Executive Officer Ted Kunkel

Foster's Ice – Britain's
top-selling ice beer was
launched in Asia during 
the year.
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Q. You have said that wine is going to
be an important part of the company’s
ongoing strategy – what are the key
elements of the wine strategy you are
putting in place? Where do you see
Foster’s wine division, Mildara Blass, 
in the future?

A. Wine will make an important contribution to 
sustaining our ongoing growth. I expect Mildara
Blass not only to confirm and build on its position
as a leader in domestic and international markets,
but also to cement its position as a key member 
of the group of synergistic, innovative businesses
which make up Foster’s today, and which will 
drive the company forward in the years to come.

The five key elements of our wine strategy will 
lay the foundations for future growth. In terms of
volume growth, the first element seeks to continue
Mildara’s leadership of the Australian premium
wine segment. Mildara’s sales growth exceeds the
industry growth rate and we hope to continue this.
The second element, exports, should also continue
to grow strongly, with 15% annual growth targeted.

Thirdly, Mildara Blass will take advantage of its
vineyard development program, reaching an optimal
60% grape self sufficiency within the next year,
with a critical focus on red wine grapes, which 
are in short supply worldwide. 

The fourth and fifth elements focus on the 
international arena. Wine production in Chile 
and California heralds the establishment of our 
offshore wine-making operations, while Mildara’s
acquisition of Cellarmaster Wines has provided 
the opportunity for Mildara to pursue international
direct wine marketing.

Overall, Mildara Blass has a comprehensive and
challenging strategy in place. Foster’s expects a
growing contribution from its wine business in the
years ahead.

Jamiesons Run Reserve
– one of Mildara Blass' new
Reserve products that has
enjoyed immediate acclaim.
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Foster’s Brewing Group Limited (Foster’s)
increased its earnings (prior to abnormal
items) by 16.1% to 15.9 cents a share in
the year ended 30 June 1998. Earnings
(prior to abnormal items) were 13.7 cents
a share in the previous year. 

After abnormal items, earnings rose 
to 25.8 cents a share from 12.8 cents, 
an increase of 102%. 

The underlying operating performance
improved significantly. Profit before 
interest and tax rose by 25.3% to 
$534.8 million. The increase in operating
profit was achieved on an increase in
average funds employed within the 
group of only 2.7%. 

The (pre-abnormal) return on equity rose
by two percentage points during the year
reflecting the combined effect of growth
in the underlying businesses and a lower
capital base following a share buy-back 
in July 1997. 

Proceeds from the sale of its 50% interest
in the Inntrepreneur Pub Company (IPCL)
and the sale of its 50% interest in Molson
Breweries further reduced the capital
employed in the business. Closing funds
employed were 22% lower than a year
earlier.

The reduction in the size of the capital
base at the end of the year implies a 
further two percentage point increment 
in the return on total funds employed 
in 1998/99 before factoring in any
improvement in the underlying business
performance.

During the year, the company completed
the repurchase of 13% of its outstanding
share capital which reduced its equity
base by $625 million and its cost of capital
by about 1   percentage points. BHP 
subsequently completed placement of 
its 36.5% shareholding in Foster’s, leaving
the company a wide spread of private 
and institutional investors in Australia 
and overseas.

Divisional Performance
Among the individual business groups: 
• Carlton and United Breweries (CUB)

increased its EBIT by $57.1 million or
15.7% to $421.2 million; 

• Mildara Blass raised its EBIT by $25.3
million or 44.2% to $82.5 million;

• the contribution from Canadian brewing
activities rose by 27.0% to $74.7 million;

• Foster’s International made a profit con-
tribution of $2.1 million compared with
a loss of $3.2 million in the previous year;

• the operating loss from Foster’s Asia rose
from $19.0 million to $42.2 million; and, 

• the contribution from Lensworth rose from
(an abnormal profit of) $15.4 million to
$23.3 million. 

Abnormal Items
There was a net abnormal profit of
$171.4 million after tax and outside equity
interest reflecting strategic decisions taken
by the company during the year and decisions
across all business units aimed at improving
the underlying profitability of the core
businesses in the coming two to three years.
• The disposal of IPCL and residual assets

held in the UK, including rights over
Scottish & Newcastle shares, 
contributed $6.1 million.

• The sale of the company’s Canadian
brewing interests generated a net 
profit (before tax) of $480 million. 
There was also a charge of $8.0 million
primarily relating to severance costs at
Molson Breweries. 

• Following a review of the strategic 
positioning of the businesses within
Foster’s Asia and recent market 
conditions in China, there is a charge 
of $167.7 million (after adjusting for
outside equity interests) for rationalisation
and restructuring of operations.

• Following the full review of all parts of
the business there is an abnormal
charge after tax of $105.7 million
reflecting rationalisation of group
assets and restructuring costs 
to achieve ongoing efficiencies 
elsewhere within the company.

• Due to changes in accounting policy there
was a $13.3 million increase in provisions
for bonus and other employee entitlements.

Taxation
The pre-abnormal tax expense rose from
$70.9 million to $150.8 million. The higher
tax expense reflected utilisation of tax
losses in 1996/97 which had been reducing
the effective tax rate on Australian-sourced
income for a number of years.
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Interest and Debt
Net interest expense for the group 
rose from $90.1 million to $111.4 million
reflecting higher average debt levels 
following the repurchase of shares in 
July 1997, other investments of $433 
million during the year and capital spending
of $159 million, offset by the proceeds
from the sale of the company’s interests
in IPCL and, to a limited degree, 
Molson Breweries.

At the end of June, net debt 
amounted to $608 million compared with 
$1,135 million at the end of June 1997.
Gearing, measured as net debt to book
equity, was 24.1% compared with 39.2%
a year earlier. The purchase of the Austotel
pub group, subsequent to year end, from
Brierley Investments for $300 million, raised
gearing by about 12 percentage points. 

Net debt was equivalent to 9.3% of the
year end market capitalisation compared
with 23.5% at 30 June 1997.

Interest cover (pre-abnormals) was 4.8
times compared with 4.7 times in the 
prior year.

Capital management
As the company has now completed the
required radical restructuring, the major
focus is on maximising both return on funds
employed and shareholder value. Currently,
with an undergeared balance sheet, there
is a need for some combination of:
• significantly higher returns on the 

marginal capital employed in the 
business to help raise the average;

• further capital reductions;
• continuing to switch the mix toward 

relatively inexpensive debt finance.

In addition the company is seeking to
optimise value from the assets not on 
the balance sheet:
• total brand value
• people and their knowledge
• technical and product innovation
• distribution networks
These assets represent our intellectual
capital.

Alternative ways of returning funds to
shareholders are an intrinsic part of the
investment decision-making process and
potential investments are always judged
against such alternatives.

Foster’s financial management goals
include an emphasis on continuing to
reduce funds employed, which has been
clearly evident over recent years in the
company’s strategic decision-making.
Now that the major aspects of the 
corporate restructuring are complete, 
the same discipline will apply to 
operational areas to ensure capital 
efficiency is maximised.

Risk Management
The company is committed to a philosophy
of risk management. Major risk exposures,
particularly in regard to property, legal 
liabilities and health and safety are 
continually monitored and contained
through incident reports, internal audits,
risk management consultants and 
compliance reporting to the Board.

This strategy is intended to enable the
company to achieve a sound commercial
balance between self retention of exposures
and the transfer of insurable risks to major
international insurers. These practices have
led to significantly reduced insurance costs.

The company is exposed to financial risks
associated with interest rate and currency
fluctuations which arise in the normal course
of its business. These risks are managed
in accordance with policies approved by
the company’s board of directors and are
subject to regular reporting to the Board.
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Summary of Group Profit
Year ended June 1997 1998 % change

$m $m

EBIT
Carlton & United Breweries 364.1 421.2 +15.7
Mildara Blass 57.2 82.5 +44.2
Canadian Brewing 58.8 74.7 +27.0
Foster’s Asia (19.0) (42.2) (122.1)
Foster’s International (3.2) 2.1 n.a.
Lensworth 23.3 n.a.
Other investments 5.3 n.a.
Corporate (31.1) (32.1) (3.2)

Total EBIT 426.8 534.8 +25.3
Net Interest (90.1) (111.4) +23.6
Tax (70.9) (150.8) +112.7
Outside equity interest (OEI) 2.5 2.6 +12.0

Profit after interest, tax and OEI 268.3 275.2 +1.9
Abnormal items (net of tax and OEI) 17.8 171.4 +862.9

Net profit 250.5 446.6 +78.3

Average shares (million) 1,962.1 1,731.7 (11.7)
Earnings per share – pre-abnormals (cents) 13.7 15.9 +16.1
Earnings per share – post-abnormals (cents) 12.8 25.8 +101.6
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In 1997/98 Carlton and United Breweries
(CUB) reinforced its standing as the
leading brewer in Australia and one 
of the most financially successful on 
a global basis.

With its winning combination of high quality 
market-attuned brands, operational efficiencies
and dynamic workplace culture, CUB turned in
another outstanding performance, achieving its
sixth consecutive year of double digit profit growth,
increasing EBIT by 15.7% to $421.2 million.
CUB’s focus on margin management and capital
efficiency was rewarded with domestic profit margin
on beer sales increasing by 11% and return on
capital employed increasing from 18.8% last year
to 21.3% this year.

CUB achieved a record 56.1% share of the national
beer market, and increased its sales volumes by
2.3%, against a national market gain of 0.7% 
– the second successive year of growth for the
Australian beer market, now at its highest level
since 1992/93. Leadership of five key market
segments – full-strength, light, bulk, premium and
import – was maintained, with CUB growing its
share of the only remaining segment, mid-strength.

While growth in high-margin premium products,
strong national brands, product innovation, 
reinvestment in leisure and hospitality and further
operational efficiencies were the key elements of
CUB’s success in 1997/98, its sustained high 
performance is drawn from its increasing capacity
to manage change for competitive advantage,
gained through the assimilation of its Lead
Enterprise culture throughout the business.

The Lead Enterprise philosophy drives continuous
improvement of CUB’s practices, products, technology
and financial performance, with the vision of CUB
becoming a learning-based, dynamic Lead Enterprise,
respected by the community and ensuring the
future of all its stakeholders. The application of 
the Lead Enterprise values of learning, innovation,
quality, teamwork, integrity, safety and commitment
underpinned all of the gains made during the period
but was particularly evident in marketing innovations,
the company’s involvement with The Sydney 2000
Olympic Games and the consultative nature of
Enterprise Development Agreement renewals.

Review of Operations
Carlton and United Breweries (CUB)
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During 1997/98, CUB continued to drive vigorous
growth in the lucrative, high-margin premium and
import segment, which has doubled in size in the
past four years, and now accounts for 5.6% of 
the total beer market. CUB consistently leads the
segment with Australia’s top-selling premium beer,
Crown Lager, and its portfolio of domestic and
imported premium brands represents almost 70% 
of segment sales. The sales performance of both
Crown Lager and the segment surged by more
than 25% during the year, increasing the value 
of Crown Lager’s contribution by a third. Premium 
stablemates, top-selling import Corona, Belgian
import Stella Artois and our own Cascade Premium
all achieved record annual sales. During the year,
contracts for the sale and distribution of Corona
and Stella Artois were renewed by Carlton Special
Beverages, CUB’s specialist beverages company,
for 10 and five years respectively. 

Strong brands are a hallmark of CUB’s success,
and brand performance in 1997/98 proved no
exception. Core brands Victoria Bitter (VB) and
Foster’s LightIce maintained their popularity with
Australia’s beer drinkers, leading the full-strength
and light beer segments. Carlton Cold reinforced
its position as one of Australia’s top-selling beers,
supported by the new “Powerfully Cold” advertising
campaign. Carlton Midstrength, launched last year,
lifted CUB to a record market share in Queensland
and performed strongly in Australia’s only other mid-
strength stronghold, Western Australia, outstripping
overall growth in the mid-strength segment.

During the year exclusive distribution of the 
popular Cascade brands returned to CUB, 
giving it leadership of the Tasmanian beer market.

New beer brands launched in 1997/98 continued
CUB’s enviable record for innovation. Carlton
Premium Dry, a pioneer in the new sub-premium
niche, was progressively launched in New South
Wales, Queensland and Victoria, and in June
became the first beer to be released in a 375ml
slimline can, another CUB first. Reschs Smooth
Black Ale, a nitrogenated black ale on tap, gained
popularity in high-profile bars and clubs, while
Carlton Stripe, a full-strength entrant in the New
Zealand market, achieved consumer awareness
equal to NZ’s top sellers with the help of a humorous
advertising campaign. Other innovations included
the launch of flavoured sub zero in the new slimline
can and a new product range, Cactus Alcoholic
Fruit Crush. 

Crown Lager – sales surged by
more than 25% during the year.
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CUB’s workforce has focused on productivity, 
flexibility and efficiency during the year with an
ongoing emphasis on teamwork and skills 
development. Enterprise Development Agreements
were renewed at all production sites and education
and safety programs advanced CUB towards its
zero injury goal. An ongoing commitment to quality
in production continued, with breweries receiving
outstanding reviews through the ISO9000
process. As part of a major Australian industry 
and Sydney 2000 Olympic Games initiative, 
The Greenhouse Challenge, CUB has committed
to reduce its carbon dioxide emissions by a quarter
within four years, by using less energy at all sites, 
with obvious environmental and cost benefits.

Votes from liquor retailers and hoteliers around
Australia awarded CUB products the top honours 
in the 1997 National Liquor Industry Awards.
Victoria Bitter, Foster’s LightIce, Crown Lager 
and Heineken all won their sections, with
Australia’s favourite Victoria Bitter voted the 
best overall alcohol product of the year.

Carlton Special Beverages won the exclusive
rights to distribute the world’s top-selling spirits
brand, Bacardi, in Australia, with a September
1998 release scheduled. CSB also became 
a major distributor of Jim Beam spirits during 
the year.

During the year CUB began to leverage its 
sponsorship of the Sydney 2000 Olympic Games. 
Its Foster’s Olympic Games promotional and 
advertising campaign struck a chord with 
Australian drinkers, doubling awareness of Foster’s
as a Supporter of the Olympic Games within two
months. CUB became the first consumer goods
company to release Olympic Games packaging,
used for all Foster’s brands. The Foster’s Sports
Foundation, launched early in 1997, began making
direct grants to athletes with Games potential.
CUB customers and employees are giving 
generously to the Foundation, which aims to 
raise substantial funds to enable athletes to 
compete at The Sydney 2000 Olympic Games.

Carlton & United 
Premium Dry – a pioneer 
in the new sub-premium niche.
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Australian Leisure and Hospitality (ALH)
Reinvestment in the high-growth leisure and 
hospitality sector, an area of traditional strength 
for CUB, underlined its determination to not only
maintain the momentum of profit growth, but to
innovate and lead into the future. Australian
Leisure and Hospitality, CUB’s hotels division, 
continues to position itself at the forefront in 
creating hotel-based leisure environments, 
with remarkable results. 

ALH increased its EBIT contribution by 29% 
to $54.1 million for the year, while acquiring 12
new venues and completing 18 major renovation
and building projects in four states. These projects
included The Vale, CUB’s first new hotel in more
than 15 years, and, also in Melbourne, ALH’s first
supersite, The Village Green, due to open in November.
The division also sold $75.4 million of hotels which
did not meet strategic requirements.

ALH’s branded drive-in and detached bottle shops,
Liquor Xpress, now number 78 around Australia
and strive to offer consumers greater convenience
and service. Further ALH brands have been created,
including Beacons, a seaside-themed family bistro,
Sneakers sportsbars and AYCE’s buffets.

During August CUB acquired the former Austotel
portfolio of hotels and liquor shops. With the 
addition of the Austotel properties, ALH’s portfolio
comprises 159 hotels and 80 liquor outlets. 

For overseas investors 
The use of ‘hotel’ in Australia can be misleading.
The Australian hotel or pub is a peculiarly Australian
institution and very much a part of the Australian
beer drinker’s psyche. They are not accommodation
centres or five star hotels. These are businesses
closely aligned to the Australian beer business
and, more broadly, hospitality and entertainment.
ALH is developing hotel-based leisure environments
and facilities to offer consumers the options 
they are looking for in Australian hotels today –
from family bistros, to sports bars and buffets,
gaming rooms, and liquor retail – a total leisure
product offering.

ALH offers consumers a
wide range of hotel-based
leisure options.
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A strong presence in the domestic market and the
strength of the business’ premium brands provided
Mildara Blass with a base for a three-pronged
expansionist thrust in overseas markets during 
the year. This included the continued development
of the company’s brands in overseas markets
(exports), the development of overseas-sourced
wine brands using Australian expertise, and the
replication in overseas markets of the company’s
successful entry into the Australasian wine 
club business.

In July 1997, Mildara Blass acquired the world’s
second largest and Australasia’s leading wine club
operator, Cellarmaster Wines, to provide a vehicle
for the development of wine clubs and the direct
marketing of wine in specific overseas markets.
The $162 million investment also included Vinpac,
Australia’s largest wine packaging contractor and
cork supplier, and Nexday, a major home delivery
business.

Cellarmaster’s leading edge information technology
on wine buying patterns and consumer preference
provides a significant competitive advantage both
domestically and internationally. Mildara Blass 
is now applying this expertise to its acquisition, 
in June 1998, of Holland’s leading wine club and
direct wine marketer, The Wine Exchange (Bourse
du Vin). Including existing export and other overseas
business, the acquisition will increase internationally-
sourced revenue to around $150 million.

Review of Operations
Mildara Blass

Mildara Blass, Foster’s premium wine
business, increased its trading revenue
by 96% during the year to $413.3 million,
through a combination of domestic and
international growth and strategic
acquisitions.

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) rose
44.2% on the previous year’s result, to $82.5 million
after amortisation of intangibles ($91.8 million, 
or 48.3%, before amortisation).

Its strong financial performance consolidated
Mildara Blass’ international standing, with the 
company now ranking as one of the world’s six
most profitable wine companies.
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Mildara Blass sold 46 million bottles of premium
red and white table wines, sparkling wines and 
fortified wines under 27 brands during the year.
The company strengthened its leadership of
Australia’s premium wine market, accounting for
approximately 30% of the segment, with sales
growth exceeding the industry rate. Internationally,
exports of a record one million cases of wine to
more than 60 countries created an increase of
28.6% over the previous year, and reinforced
Mildara’s position as a major contributor to the
continued penetration of Australian wine into 
overseas markets.

Last year marked Mildara Blass’ entry into the
global market as an international producer, 
as well as an exporter and international marketer,
moving to establish itself cost-effectively in markets
where long-term growth is forecast. The business’
winemakers made wine in California and Chile,
preparatory to launching new brands in the US and
British markets in 1998 and 1999. The Californian
brand, Bayliss & Fortune, was released in the US
market in August, with an encouraging early response.
Nearly 100,000 cases were produced in the first
vintage and work has commenced on the second.
A joint venture with one of Chile’s leading wine
companies, Vina Santa Carolina, is due to release a
new global wine brand, made with Chilean grapes
and Australian expertise in a distinctly Australian
style, early next year.

Key Mildara Blass brands Yellowglen, Black Opal
(export), Annie’s Lane, Robertson’s Well, St Huberts,
Eaglehawk and Saltram all registered growth in
excess of 20% for the year, while Wolf Blass 
international volumes exceeded domestic sales 
for the first time.

Premium quality was also rewarded on the show
circuit with Mildara Blass wines winning 104 gold
medals, 706 medals in total and 11 trophies.
Annie’s Lane, Yellowglen, Robertson’s Well and
Wolf Blass wines all performed exceptionally well.

Mildara Blass continues to be extremely well
placed to meet escalating global demand for red
wine. Red wine already accounts for more than
half of sales volume, compared to approximately
33% for the industry. This year, about 53% of
Mildara’s wine production came from red grapes,
compared to an industry average of one third, 
giving Mildara Blass a significant strategic 
advantage over competitors.

Grapes produced in Mildara Blass vineyards in
97/98 accounted for 48% of its requirements,
with the 1998 vintage reported as outstanding in
most regions. The business is on target to produce
60% of its requirements in the 1999 vintage, 
with 60% believed to be the optimum level of self-
sufficiency in terms of cost benefit and risk levels.

Mildara Blass has the largest holding of land in 
the emerging Koppamurra region, which promises
to rival its immediate neighbour Coonawarra for
fruit quality. With the potential to produce some 
of the best reds in Australia, its Koppamurra brand,
Flanagan’s Ridge, has already taken top honours 
in a major Australian wine show.

Annie's Lane - one of a 
number of key Mildara Blass
brands to register growth in
excess of 20% for the year.
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Foster’s set an annual sales record of four million
hectolitres in Britain, and moved closer to becoming
number one nationwide. It also maintained its 
pre-eminent position in the London market. 
A £25 million brand enhancement program
included enhanced draught delivery and the new
“He Who Drinks Australian, Thinks Australian” television
and cinema advertising campaign. 

In a year of stronger foundations for brand 
management worldwide, Foster’s upward trajectory
in Britain also reinforced the commitment of 
Foster’s European partners, Scottish & Newcastle.
The company, which is the licensed brewer and
marketer of Foster’s in Britain and Europe and 
the parent company of Scottish Courage, achieved 
volume growth of 11% for the Foster’s brand 
during the year and reconfirmed Foster’s position
as its number one priority brand.

With Foster’s now brewed at six European brewing
sites, Scottish & Newcastle has undertaken a
strategic realignment of distribution capabilities 
to better exploit potential growth opportunities in
Europe. During the year, The Famous Australian
Beer moved up to number eight position in this
parochial market, making it the only non-European
beer brand in the top 20.

In its third year of operation, Foster’s 
International generated its maiden 
profit with an EBIT of $2.1 million, 
and consolidated the Foster’s brand’s
position as the world’s third most 
widely-distributed and fastest-growing
beer brand. Total global brand volumes
rose by 11.2% to 7.4 million hectolitres
(approximately 93 million cases), 
producing double digit volume growth
for the third consecutive year. 

Success in the key markets of Britain/Europe and
the United States reflected a sharper focus on 
unified global marketing strategies and a continuing
commitment from international partners and
licensees, with strong royalty streams from both
markets laying a firm foundation for future profit
growth. International sports sponsorships and targeted
development of new markets, strengthened the
brand’s global credentials, which are already 
significant, given Foster’s presence in a total 
of more than 130 countries worldwide. 

Review of Operations
Foster’s International
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In the highly competitive US imported beer market,
Foster’s continued to perform strongly, achieving
volume growth of 22.8%, more than double 
the rate of growth in the total sector. The result
represented four consecutive years of double digit
growth for the brand and positioned it as the 
number six imported beer in the American market.
The award-winning “Australian for Beer” campaign
entered its fifth successful season with a new
cycle of television advertisements, and Miller Brewing
Company, which markets and distributes Foster’s in
the US, reconfirmed the brand’s status as a top
five priority national brand.

The reorganisation of Foster’s Brewing Group’s
North American businesses during the year provided
a further opportunity to strengthen foundations for
the brand’s management, building strong partnership
arrangements while ensuring a more direct role in
brand management and profit generation for
Foster’s International. A new ownership structure
for Molson USA, the partnership in charge of sales,
marketing and distribution of the Foster’s brand in
the US, maintained Miller’s role in developing the
brand and established direct ownership of 24.95%
of the operation for Foster’s. The new arrangements
give Foster’s International greater strategic influence
over the direction of the brand in the US, and provide
an income stream from both brewing royalties and
wholesale gross margins.

New markets continue to be a priority for Foster’s
International. The division’s sales and marketing
network offices, now located in Melbourne,
London, Washington, Dubai and Hong Kong, are
spearheading ventures into new markets in Central
and South America, Asia, Central Asian Republics,
Africa and the Middle East. In the past year,
Foster’s International entered new agreements to
begin distribution in the high-growth markets of
Argentina, Chile and Uruguay. New distribution
arrangements in Egypt established the first
Foster’s on tap in Africa, while the brand’s 
strong position in the Middle East and Africa 
was consolidated with the inclusion of Jordan 
and Lebanon. Sales to the Middle East increased
by 7% during the year.

Foster’s International is working closely with Foster’s
own breweries in China, India and Vietnam to enhance
penetration in Asia. Difficult economic conditions
across the region did not diminish these efforts.
Locally-produced Foster’s was successfully launched
in Vietnam in June and India in July.

Foster’s sponsorship of premier sporting events
around the world continued to pay dividends for
the brand during the year. These sponsorships not
only provided an international profile for consumers,
but also valuable marketing opportunities for global
partners and licensees, and reinforcement of the
brand’s traditional connection with lifestyle, fun and
sporting excellence. Foster’s Grand Prix connection
was strengthened, both in terms of the sponsorship
arrangements and the link being made in consumers’
minds between the world’s most-watched sport
and the world’s fastest-growing beer brand. Other
key sponsorships included the Hong Kong Rugby
Sevens, The Foster’s Melbourne Cup and support
for Australian Rules football and cricket. 

Australian actor 
Ben Mendelsohn stars 
in Foster’s latest Australian 
commercials.

The new standard international
330ml Foster's bottle, introduced
this year, reinforces Foster's
premium positioning.
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Foster’s Asia reinforced and refocused
its commitment to the Asian region 
during 1997/98 through several major
initiatives which position the company
for long-term growth.

A new approach to operations in China resulted
from a comprehensive review of the Foster’s China
business. Foster’s restated its commitment to 
further development of the Foster’s brand in China,
which remains on target to become the world’s
largest beer market within the first decade of 
the new millennium.

The acquisition of two modern breweries in Vietnam,
and the commissioning of the Foster’s India brewery
near Mumbai, have completed the division’s strategic
brewing footprint in Asia’s key emerging markets.
The subsequent launch of locally brewed Foster’s in
the premium beer segments of both countries further
advanced Foster’s global brand strategy in Asia.

Foster’s Asia reported a $42.2 million loss before
interest and tax for 1997/98, compared with
$19.0 million for the previous year. A continued
deterioration in margin available to brewers in
China was a major contributor to the loss. Excess
industry production capacity forced prices down,
while the cost of operating rose, as new entrants
struggled to establish brands in a crowded market.
The margin deterioration, together with a significant
change in the Chinese business environment,
necessitated a strategic review of Chinese 
operations. Additional minor losses following the
purchase of the Vietnamese breweries and start-up
costs in India also contributed to the division’s
overall result.

As a consequence of the recent review, the
Foster’s China business will now focus its efforts
on Shanghai, China’s largest and most international
city and home of its best-established and most
developed premium beer segment. Shanghai is
also the location of Foster’s China’s biggest and
most modern brewery, a 150-million-litre operation
representing half of the company’s total Chinese
brewing capacity. Sales and distribution centres 
in Beijing and Guangzhou will ensure the Foster’s
brand has effective support in China’s other main
premium beer markets.

Review of Operations
Foster’s Asia

Foster’s television 
advertising in Asia 
establishes Foster’s 
as the quintessential
Australian beer.
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As a result of the decision to concentrate the
investment in the future development of the Foster’s
brand, and to base operations in Shanghai, 
Foster’s China will seek expressions of interest 
in its breweries in Guangdong and Tianjin. The sale
of Foster’s interest in the two smaller breweries
will significantly reduce overall operating costs.

As indicated in the half-year results, an overhead
reduction program was implemented during the
year and included the relocation of the Foster’s
Asia corporate office to Melbourne and a reduction
in expatriate employee numbers in China.

During the year volumes of Foster’s sold in China
rose by 142%, reflecting the greater concentration
on the brand. Total volumes of beer sold by the
company in China changed little, however, at 100
million litres, as a strategic decision was taken to
maximise margins.

Elsewhere in Asia, conditions proved more conducive
for investment. The $78 million acquisition of modern,
efficient breweries in South and Central Vietnam 
in October paved the way for Foster’s to enter 
the Vietnamese market, and established a base for
future exports within South-East Asia. Foster’s was
launched in early June after upgrade work at the
brewery near Ho Chi Minh City in South Vietnam.
During the period under Foster’s ownership 41.6
million litres of beer were sold, generating revenue
of $35 million.

Foster’s became the first international brewer to
make and market its own beer in India, following
the commissioning of the 10-million-litre Foster’s
India brewery near Mumbai. Mumbai is India’s and
the world’s largest city, with an urban population 
of about 14 million people.  With a large, growing
middle class and tropical climate, the region is
ideal for an international premium beer. The official
brand launch was in July but brand awareness 
had been dramatically increased before the 
launch through sponsorship of the 1998 Australian
Cricket Tour of India, as well as seeding of the
market with exports from Australia.

Continued market development expenditure will be
a feature of the Asian operations as the company
works to successfully develop its Foster’s brand.
However, with the progress made in India and
Vietnam and the initiatives taken in China, the loss
generated by Foster’s Asia should reduce significantly
in the current year. 
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The sale of Miller Brewing Company’s 20% interest
in Molson Breweries, to Foster’s and TMCL in equal
proportion, enabled both partners to increase their
holding in Molson from 40% to 50%. As part of
that transaction, Foster’s and TMCL also purchased
a 24.95% interest in Molson USA from Miller.
Molson USA markets and distributes Foster’s 
and Molson brands in the United States. 

Subsequently, TMCL offered to buy Foster’s 50%
interest in Molson Breweries. Foster’s found the
terms extremely attractive and accordingly agreed
to the transaction. As part of that agreement,
Molson Breweries is continuing to produce
Foster’s for distribution in the US and Canada.
Foster’s has retained its interest in Molson USA
and now benefits directly from the success of 
the Foster’s brand in the US.

A number of initiatives undertaken in recent times
had begun to show positive results for Molson
Breweries, with brand repositioning, cost controls
and improved pricing helping build profit.  Exports
to the United States grew by more than 5% during
the year, mainly due to 22.8% growth of the
Foster’s brand in the US. 

In its final year of partnership in Molson
Breweries, Foster’s share of profit
increased by 27% to $74.7 million
(including its share of the Coors
Canada partnership). The increase was
mostly attributable to Foster’s raising 
its partnership interest from 40% to
50% in the middle of the year, and the
beneficial effect of currency movements.
There was, however, also an underlying
improvement in the Molson business.

During the year, several decisions were taken
which affected the structure of Foster’s investment
in Canada. These culminated in Foster’s sale of 
its Canadian brewing interests to The Molson
Companies Ltd (TMCL) for $1.11 billion, on June
24, 1998. The transaction included Foster’s 50%
interest in Molson Breweries and its 24.95% 
interest in Coors Canada. 

The restructuring which preceded the sale included
the formation of Coors Canada and the purchase
of Miller Brewing Company’s stake in Molson
Breweries, both of which occurred late in 1997.
The Coors Canada agreement established a 
partnership between Foster’s and TMCL to 
manage the Coors brand in Canada. This decision
ensured that Molson Breweries would continue 
to have access to the Coors brand in Canada,
which it agreed to brew and distribute. The 
partnership took effect from January 1, 1998.

Review of Operations
Molson

The Foster's "oil can" 
is popular in the US 
where Foster's sales 
have increased by 
22.8% during the year.
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Lensworth 
Lensworth is the business unit responsible
for the management of the assets and
businesses remaining from the restructuring
of Foster’s that began in the early 1990s.
As a result of the successful management
of the asset realisation program a sustainable
profit stream has been established from
certain property assets in Australia and
North America.

During 1997/98 the business contributed
$23.3 million to EBIT and generated cash
from asset realisations totalling $119 million.

At 30 June 1998, Lensworth had net assets
of $278 million after specific and general
provisions of $166 million. The asset portfolio
consisted of Australian residential develop-
ments (23%), commercial properties in
North America (53%), and residual assets
(24%). The major residential development
is Glenmore Park in Penrith, New South
Wales. This 515 hectare subdivision 
continues to trade strongly. The commercial
properties in North America are producing
a steady stream of income which continues
to improve in a strong US economy. These
assets and the residual assets in the 
portfolio will continue to be realised in 
an orderly manner. 

Corporate Assets
Share buy-back
• The $625 million buy-back of shares

undertaken in July 1997 reduced the
number of shares on issue by 13% 
from 1,962.8 million to 1,708.3 million,
adding to the growth in earnings per
share. The reduction in shares on issue
more than compensated for the higher
interest costs arising from the buy-back
and was transacted at an effective buy-back
price of $2.49 per share compared to
the year end closing price of $3.80.

BHP divestment
• The Broken Hill Proprietary Co. Ltd

(BHP) completed the sale of the last
part of its shareholding in Foster’s 
during the year, finalising a major
restructuring of the company’s shareholder
base which involved Foster’s buying back
13% of its fully paid issued capital and
BHP selling the 36.5% which it had
held. The shares were readily taken 
up by the equity market with strong 
institutional interest in Australia and 
overseas, supplemented by the retail
market in Australia.

Crown Limited Shares
• As a founding shareholder in Crown, 

by agreement CUB was required to hold
its shares until the permanent casino in
Melbourne was completed. That occurred
in May 1997 when 16.1 million shares
were held. In June 1997, five million shares
were sold at $2.16 per share contributing
to a profit of $5 million. A further 10 million
shares were sold in early July 1997, 
at a price of $2.20 a share contributing
to a further profit of $11million.

Scottish & Newcastle Option
• After 31 December, the company sold

its option rights to shares in Scottish &
Newcastle plc, which were acquired as
part of the sale of the Courage brewing
business in 1995. The profit for the
company, after adjusting for hedging
and transaction costs, was $27 million.

Inntrepreneur Pub 
Company Limited (IPCL)
• In September 1997 Foster’s announced

the sale of its 50% interest in the
Inntrepreneur Pub Company Limited
(IPCL) in the UK, for $462.9 million. 
The sale was completed in March 1998.
IPCL was created as a joint venture
between Courage Brewing and Grand
Metropolitan plc in 1991. Foster’s sold
Courage in 1995 but had retained its
interest in IPCL. The sale signalled the
successful conclusion of Foster’s program
of major non-core asset sales and the
successful exit from all of our operating
businesses in the UK.

Review of Operations
Lensworth and Corporate Assets
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Support for two of the world’s
most popular sporting events,
The Olympic Games and Grand
Prix racing, took centre stage
among the company’s 
commitments for the year.

CUB is a sponsor of The Sydney 2000
Olympic Games through the Foster’s
brand. At the same time the Foster’s
Sports Foundation is raising funds to 
help athletes with Olympic potential 
and more than 40 promising Australian 
athletes have already received grants.
CUB customers and employees are 
giving generously to the Foundation, 
further supplemented by the company.

Foster’s added further pace to its Grand
Prix sponsorship this year, taking on 
naming rights sponsorship of the Foster’s
Belgian Grand Prix, held in August. As an
Official Sponsor of Grand Prix worldwide,
Foster’s has a combination of signage,
promotional, hospitality and pouring rights
at all 16 Formula One races. Through
Grand Prix telecasts the Foster’s brand
reaches over 600 million viewers in 200
countries around the world each week of
the 16-week race season. 

Other high profile Foster’s brand 
sponsorships include The Foster’s
Melbourne Cup, international telecasts 
of Australian Football League highlights
to 120 countries and Official Beer 
sponsorship of the Hong Kong Sevens
rugby tournament. Foster’s is also the 
official beer of the Australian Cricket 
team at home and away. 

During the year Foster’s Brewing Group
and its businesses invested in a wide
range of sporting, artistic and charitable
endeavours, demonstrating a commitment
to the communities they operate in.
Foster’s involvement in the community
included donations to diverse charitable
and cultural organisations and activities,
including The Peter MacCallum Cancer
Institute, The Australian Ballet and the
National Gallery of Victoria. 

CUB has a comprehensive sports 
sponsorship program, supporting high 
profile international events through to
local sports clubs. In 1997/98 CUB 
supported the Carlton & United Series
one-day cricket internationals, 

the Carlton & United Australian Surf
Titles, Australian Rules Football, and the
Australian Masters, Australian Open and
Greg Norman International golf tournaments.
The company is also a sponsor 
of the high profile President’s Cup golf
tournament, to be held in Melbourne in
December. CUB also sponsored a large
number of regional activities including 
picnic race meetings, cricket, surf lifesaving
and football.

Foster’s Asia’s sponsorship and community
involvement during the year included support
for the highly successful Chinese tour by
the Australian dance group Tapdogs, and
the donation of an ear drill to a Vietnamese
hospital at Da Nang where an Australian
ear specialist regularly volunteers his 
services. The division also sponsored
China’s national rugby team for its first
international performance, at the Hong
Kong Sevens, and the 1998 Australian
Cricket Tour of India. Foster’s subsequently
sponsored Australian cricketer Steve
Waugh’s return visit to India in support 
of leprosy charities.

Mildara Blass is a strong supporter of 
all facets of the arts in all Australian 
capital cities. Its sponsorships during the
year included The Melbourne Symphony
Orchestra, the Art Gallery of NSW, Opera
Australia and Heide Museum of Modern
Art. Mildara Blass also sponsors a range
of sports including the Melbourne Tigers
basketball team, St Kilda Football Club,
cycling, and the Greg Norman Classic.
The business also supports the Salvation
Army, Red Cross, and The Royal Children’s
Hospital.

Foster’s Brewing Group Limited  Sponsorship and Community38

Sponsorship and Community 

OFFICIAL BEER SUPPLIER OF THE 
SYDNEY 2000 OLYMPIC GAMES
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Board of Directors

The following changes in the Board of Directors
have taken place during the year:

Messrs. GC Evans, PE Jeans and DR Zimmerman,
who were initially nominated by BHP, and Messrs.
S Oishi and E Yonenaga, who were initially 
nominated by Asahi Breweries, retired as Directors 
in July 1997 following the completion of the share
buy-back.

The members of the Board of Directors as at the
date of this report are set out to the right, together
with details of their qualifications, experience,
other responsibilities and holdings in the Company
and related bodies corporate.

JT RALPH AO, FCPA, FTSE, FAUSIMM, FAICD, FAIM, 
HON LLD (Melb and Qld) (65)

Member of the Board since February 1994 and
Chairman since October 1995.

Mr Ralph is Chairman of Pacific Dunlop Limited,
Deputy Chairman of the Commonwealth Bank of
Australia Limited and Telstra Corporation Limited
and is a Director of BHP Limited and Pioneer
International Limited.  He is National Chairman 
of The Queen’s Trust for Young Australians,
President of the Australia Japan Business 
Co-operation Committee, Chairman of the
Australian Foundation for Science and is a member
of the Board of the Melbourne Business School.

Securities held:  8,500(1), 30,000(4)

GA COHEN DIP. COMM. LAW, DIP. TAX LAW, FCA (64)

Member of the Board since November 1991.

Mr Cohen is a former senior partner of Arthur
Andersen and is the Chairman of HIH Winterthur
International Holdings Ltd. and FBG Superannuation
Limited, and a Director of Diversified United
Investment Limited and Australian Premium 
Wines Limited.

Securities held:  10,900(1) , 30,000(4)

B HEALEY (64)

Member of the Board since December 1993.

Mr Healey is Chairman of Portfolio Partners
Limited, Biota Holdings Ltd and Centro Properties
Limited and a Director of Orica Ltd and AWA
Limited.

Securities held:  8,000(1), 20,000(4)

PROFESSOR FG HILMER AO, LLB, LLM, MBA (53)

Member of the Board since November 1990 
and Deputy Chairman since March 1992.

Professor Hilmer is Professor of Management at 
the Australian Graduate School of Management,
University of New South Wales, Chairman of
Pacific Power, Deputy Chairman of Westfield
Holdings Limited and a Director of Port Jackson
Partners Limited, Coca-Cola Amatil Limited,
Westfield America Inc. and chairs the Advisory
Board of Fujitsu Australia Limited.

Securities held:  63,000(1) , 50,000(4)

ET KUNKEL B.SC. (55)

Member of the Board, President and Chief
Executive Officer since March 1992.

Mr Kunkel is a Director of a number of subsidiaries
of Foster’s Brewing Group Limited and is the only
Executive Director on the Board of the Company.

Securities held:  298,510(1), 300,000(2), 3,600,000(3)

FJ SWAN B.SC. (57)

Member of the Board since August 1996.

Mr Swan is a former Chief Executive Officer of
Cadbury Schweppes Australia Limited, former
Director of Cadbury Schweppes plc and is a
Director of the Commonwealth Bank of Australia
Limited and National Foods Limited.

Securities held: 30,000(1)

The Directors from left:
FJ Swan, ET Kunkel (President and CEO), JT Ralph (Chairman), FG Hilmer (Deputy Chairman), GA Cohen, B Healey.

Footnotes

1. Fully paid ordinary shares.

2. Partly paid to 1.67 cents.

3. Beneficially held options over 3,600,000 unissued ordinary shares.

4. J.B. Were Capital Markets Limited Exchangeable Unsecured

Notes of $3.00 each (7.75% Foster’s Series).
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Board of Directors
The Board of Directors of Foster’s Brewing
Group Limited has responsibility for guiding and
monitoring the business and affairs of the Group,
including compliance with the Group’s corporate
governance policies and procedures, on behalf
of shareholders. Responsibility for the operation
and administration of the Group is delegated by
the Board to the Chief Executive Officer who is
accountable to the Board. 

The Articles of Association of the Company
specify that:

• The number of Directors may not be less
than six nor more than twenty (being such 
a number within this range as the Board may
determine from time to time). The Board has
determined that for the time being, the maximum
number of Directors shall be six.

• At each Annual General Meeting:

• one third of Directors (other than the Chief
Executive Officer and Directors who have
been appointed to fill casual vacancies
since the previous Annual General Meeting)
are required to retire and may stand for 
re-election; and

• Directors who have filled casual vacancies
are required to be elected at the first Annual
General Meeting following their appointment
by the Board. 

In addition, the Board has resolved that the position
of Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer will be held by different persons.

The Board has established, and keeps under
constant review, its own processes by which it
undertakes its responsibilities, and seeks to
achieve best practice in matters of governance
and accountability. These processes include:

• A compliance reporting program whereby
executives of the Group are required to bring
certain matters to the attention of Directors,
on at least a quarterly basis. ‘Material matters’
are to be reported immediately and ‘significant
incidents’ within seven days. The program
presently covers occupational health and
safety, anti-discrimination, employee and industrial
relations, superannuation, environmental matters,
document retention, Corporations Law, stock
exchange reporting, product liability and 
trade practices. 

• Reports by management, both oral and written,
to Directors on a monthly basis, in addition 
to the compliance reporting program, covering
the financial standing, operating results and
business risks of the Group.

• The use of formal policies and charters on a
wide range of issues that are material to the
Group, including:

• Treasury Activities; 
• Ethics; 
• Dealing in Company Securities; 
• Human Resources; 
• Acceptance of Directorships in Public

Companies; and
• Political Donations.

• A number of Board Committees, the functions
of which are to assist the Board carry out its
duties in specific areas. 

In addition, the Company’s Compliance Working
Group, which consists of representatives of
management, is responsible for implementing
the Board policy for compliance.  

Board Committees
Audit Committee* 
The Audit Committee was established in 1982,
and its primary objective is to assist the Board
of Directors in fulfilling its responsibilities relating
to accounting and reporting practices.

By reference to its charter, the Committee
meets at least four times each year. In addition,
the Chairman is required to call a meeting of
the Committee, when requested to do so by a
Committee member, the Chief Executive Officer, 
the Chief Financial Officer or the Company’s
external auditors. The Committee has unlimited
access to both internal and external auditors,
and to senior management of the Company.
During the 1997 financial year, the internal
audit function was outsourced. 

The primary duties and responsibilities of 
the Audit Committee are to: 

• recommend to the Board which 
external auditors to appoint;

• review the audit plan of the external auditors
and reasons for subsequent variations from
these plans; 

• review the internal audit plan and the 
organisation of that function which has 
been outsourced;

• ensure that no management restrictions 
are being placed upon either the internal 
or external auditors; 

• evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the Group’s administrative, operating 
and accounting policies and controls 
through active communication with operating
management, internal audit and the external
auditors; and 

• review public financial and regulatory reports
prior to their release.

The Committee consists entirely of non-executive
Directors. The members are Messrs GA Cohen
(Chairman), B Healey and JT Ralph.

Corporate Governance
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Compliance Committee
The Compliance Committee was established on
24 March 1998 and first met on 28 May 1998.
Under its terms of reference, the Compliance
Committee meets at least twice a year.

The Committee’s function is to monitor the
Company’s adherence to the Code of Ethics
discussed below, and to assist the Company 
in fulfilling its responsibilities relating to 
compliance, including to:

• monitor, review and assess the Company’s
compliance including the effectiveness of its
compliance program; and

• ensure appropriate compliance information 
is provided to the Board of Directors.

The Committee consists of two non-executive
directors, a member of the Company’s senior
management team, and corporate compliance
officers from the Company, Carlton and United
Breweries and Mildara Blass. The members 
are Messrs FJ Swan (Chairman), B Healey, 
PA Bobeff, RG Peel, PD Thomas and PJ Turner.

Human Resources Committee
The Human Resources Committee was established
in 1981 with the principal objective, as set out
in its charter, to formally review and, where
appropriate, recommend on salaries and bonuses
and more generally, on Group issues, plans, policies
and current philosophies related to the management
of human resources. 

The Committee consists entirely of non-executive
Directors. The members are Messrs JT Ralph
(Chairman), B Healey, FG Hilmer and FJ Swan.

Succession Committee 
The Succession Committee was established in
1991 to manage Board succession, including
recommendations for the selection, appointment
and retirement of Directors.

The Committee consists of a majority of 
non-executive Directors. The members are
Messrs JT Ralph (Chairman), FG Hilmer 
and ET Kunkel.

* AIl Directors of the Company receive copies of
Committee papers and may attend meetings at 
the invitation of the Committee Chairman. 

Remuneration of Non-executive Directors
The fees payable to non-executive Directors
are determined by the Board within the aggregate
amount approved by shareholders. Shareholder
approval was last given at the Annual General
Meeting held on 23 October 1995 for aggregate
remuneration of $900,000 per year.

Remuneration of Senior Executives
The remuneration levels of the Chief 
Executive Officer and other senior managers
are recommended by the Human Resources
Committee and approved by the Board, having
regard to advice from independent consultants
and after taking into consideration those levels
that apply to similar positions in comparable
companies.

Risk Identification and Management
The Group is committed to the identification,
monitoring and management of risks associated
with its business activities. The Group has
established a number of wide-ranging reporting
mechanisms and management procedures to
deal with risks including financial, business,
interest rate, foreign exchange and regulatory
risks, and crisis management.

The Group also closely and continually monitors
international risks associated with its global activities.

Code of Ethics
Policy 
It is the Group’s policy for Directors and officers
to observe high standards of conduct and ethical
behaviour in all of the Group’s activities, including
its dealings with employees, customers, consumers,
suppliers, business partners, the general community
and the environment in which it operates.

Senior executives are permitted to have 
one non-executive directorship of an external 
company depending on the particular 
circumstances, but only on the recommendation
by the Chief Executive Officer for approval 
of the Board.

Conflicts of Interest 
Apart from legal obligations, Directors are
required to disclose to the Board any material
contract in which they have an interest. 
Where a matter is being considered by the 
Board in which a Director has a personal 
interest, that Director may not be present 
while the matter is being considered and 
may not vote on the matter. 

Purchase and Sale of Company
Securities and Disclosure of 
Directors’ Interests
It is the Group’s policy that:

• Directors notify the Chairman of the Board
before buying or selling securities in the
Company, except where such purchases or
sales are made within one month following the: 

• announcement of the Group’s half-yearly
or annual results; or

• holding of the Annual General Meeting;

• where approval is not required pursuant to
the foregoing, Directors still notify the Board
of purchases and sales;

• similar approval is required from the Chief
Executive Officer by senior managers who
purchase or sell Company securities; and

• the Board recognises that it is the individual
responsibility of each Director and other 
officers to ensure that they comply with 
the spirit and the letter of the insider trading
laws.  Notification to the Board in no way
implies Board approval of any transaction. 

Directors’ Access to Independent Advice 
Any Director who requires legal advice in 
relation to the performance of his duties as 
a Director of the Company must inform the
Chairman of the issue that raises the concern
that requires legal advice, and advice is then to
be obtained in consultation with the Chairman.
The costs reasonably incurred are reimbursable
by the Company. When the advice is to hand, 
it is to be made available to all other Directors.
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Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of Foster’s
Brewing Group Limited will be held on Monday
26 October 1998 at 11 am at the Melbourne
Concert Hall, Victorian Arts Centre, St Kilda
Road, Melbourne, Victoria.  Full details are 
contained in the Notice of Meeting sent to 
all shareholders under separate cover.

Voting Rights
Shareholders are encouraged to attend the
Annual General Meeting but, when this is not
possible, to use the proxy form by which they
can express their views.

Every shareholder, proxy or shareholder’s 
representative has one vote on a show of
hands. In the case of a poll, each share held 
by every shareholder, proxy or representative 
is entitled to:

a) one vote for each fully paid share; and

b) voting rights in proportion to the paid up
amount of the issue price for partly paid
shares.

Stock Exchange Listings
Shares of Foster’s are listed under the symbol
“FBG” on the Australian Stock Exchange. 
The securities of the Company are traded on
the Australian Stock Exchange under CHESS
(Clearing House Electronic Sub Register
System) which allows settlement of on-market
transactions without transfer of shares having
to rely on paper documentation. Shareholders
seeking more information about CHESS
should contact their stockbroker or the
Australian Stock Exchange.

Ordinary shares in Foster’s Brewing Group are
also listed on the stock exchanges of London
and Tokyo. American Depositary Receipts,
sponsored by the Bank of New York, are listed
on the Toronto and Montreal Stock Exchanges
and can be purchased through brokers in 
the US.

Share Register and other Enquiries
If you have any questions about your share-
holding, share transfers or dividends, please
contact our share registrar:

Perpetual Registrars Limited
Level 4, 333 Collins Street
Melbourne, Victoria 3000, Australia.
Free call: 1800 331 721
(for Australian callers outside Melbourne)
Telephone: +61 3 9205 4999
Facsimile: +61 3 9205 4900
E-mail: registry_melb@au.coopers.com
Internet: www.au.coopers.com/srs

It would be helpful if shareholder reference
numbers were included in all correspondence
to the share registrar.

In the United Kingdom, questions 
can be directed to:

Foster’s Brewing Group Limited
Montrose House
Chertsey Boulevard
Hanworth Lane
Chertsey, Surrey KT16 9JX
United Kingdom
Telephone:  +44 1932 570265
Facsimile:  +44 1932 566703

For enquiries relating to the operations of the
Company, please contact the Investor Relations
Department on:

Telephone: +61 3 9633 2773
Facsimile: +61 3 9645 7226
E-mail: fosters.investor.relations@cub.com.au

Written correspondence should be directed to:
Vice President Investor Relations
Foster’s Brewing Group Limited
GPO Box 753F
Melbourne Victoria 3001 Australia.

Dividends
A final dividend of 6 cents per share will 
be paid on 2 October 1998 to shareholders 
registered on 18 September 1998. 
For Australian tax purposes, the dividend 
will be 100% franked at the 36% tax rate.

Shareholders can elect to have dividends 
paid directly into a bank account or other 
financial institution account anywhere in
Australia. Forms for this purpose are 
available on request from the share registrar.

Tax File Numbers
Australian taxpayers who do not provide details
of their tax file number will have tax deducted
at the top marginal rate (plus Medicare levy)
from any unfranked or partially franked dividends.
It may be in the interests of shareholders to
ensure that tax file numbers have been supplied
to the share registrar. Forms are available from
the share registrar should you wish to notify 
us of your tax file number or tax exemption
details.

Change of Address
It is important for shareholders to notify the
share registrar in writing promptly of any
change of address.  As a security measure, 
the old address should also be quoted as 
well as your shareholder reference number.

Key Dates
18 September 1998
Books closing date for 1997/98 final dividend

25 September 1998
Annual report sent to shareholders

2 October 1998
Final dividend for 1997/98 payable

26 October 1998
Annual General Meeting

8 February 1999
Announcement of profit result for half year
ending 31 December 1998

5 March 1999*
Books closing date for 1998/99 interim dividend

19 March 1999*
Interim dividend for 1998/99 payable

30 June 1999
End of financial year

23 August 1999*
Announcement of profit result for 1998/99

*  Likely dates.  Subject to confirmation.

Foster’s Brewing Group Limited
A.C.N. 007 620 886
(Incorporated in South Australia)
Company Secretary:
Peter A Bobeff
Registered Office:
77 Southbank Boulevard
Southbank, Victoria 3006, Australia.
Telephone:  +61 3 9633 2000
Facsimile:  +61 3 9633 2002

Shareholder Information
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Historical Summary

Year ended June
$ million 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998

Total operating revenue 6,494.2 5,068.4 4,866.5 2,535.8 2,779.9 4,970.9 

Profit
EBIT

CUB 211.2 249.7 282.1 326.6 364.1 421.2 
Courage (discontinued) 208.3 174.4 207.6 - - -
Canada (discontinued) 107.1 78.2 71.9 61.4 58.8 74.7 
Asia - (11.2) (11.8) (17.4) (19.0) (42.2)
International - - - - (3.2) 2.1 
Mildara Blass - - - 16.1 57.2 82.5 
Property and investments - - - - - 28.6 
Corporate (41.1) (29.1) (52.9) (23.2) (31.1) (32.1)

Total EBIT 485.5 462.0 496.9 363.5 426.8 534.8 

Net profit after tax (pre-abnormals) 278.8 279.0 348.5 282.4 268.3 275.2 
Abnormals (after tax and outside equity interests) 30.9 2.7 (61.2) 10.9 (17.8) 171.4 
Net profit after tax (post-abnormals) 309.7 281.7 287.3 293.3 250.5 446.6 

Average shares (million) 1,736.3 1,951.6 1,960.0 1,960.8 1,962.1 1,731.7 
fully diluted 1,736.3 1,951.6 1,960.0 1,960.8 1,976.2 1,747.1 

Earnings per share (pre-abnormals) (cents) – fully diluted 16.1 14.3 17.8 14.4 13.7 15.8 
Earnings per share (post-abnormals) (cents) – fully diluted 17.8 14.4 14.7 15.0 12.8 25.6 

Cash Flow
EBITDA (continuing operations) 214.7 256.0 270.2 366.8 448.6 566.8 
Asset sales 887.0 787.1 460.3 1,160.5 301.8 1,787.1 
Free cash flow 1,768.1 698.6 839.5 1,346.1 542.5 2,095.3 

Capital expenditure (145.4) (161.1) (164.1) (190.0) (195.8) (241.3)
Investments (135.5) (88.0) (112.5) (527.2) (79.2) (432.5)
Dividend payments (40.6) (134.1) (196.0) (212.5) (215.8) (187.6)
Share buy-back - - - - - (625.0)
Net cash flow 1,446.6 315.4 366.9 416.4 51.7 608.9 

Financial Strength
Net debt (end period) 2,641.1 1,852.3 1,579.2 1,066.9 1,134.7 607.7 
Total shareholders’ equity 2,485.9 2,819.3 2,906.5 2,944.3 2,897.6 2,518.9 
Book value per share ($) 1.3 1.4 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 
Net tangible assets per share ($) 0.9 1.1 1.1 1.0 0.9 0.8 
Net debt/equity (%) (end period) 106.2 65.7 54.3 36.2 39.2 24.1 
Interest paid cover (times) – pre-abnormals 2.4 3.0 3.8 5.9 4.7 4.8 

Shareholder Returns
Dividend (cents per share) 10.0 10.0 10.4 11.0 11.0 11.0 
Dividend cover (times) 1.6 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.2 2.4 
Franking (%) 42.7 42.5 - - 25.5 100.0 
Return on equity (%) 1 11.3 10.0 12.2 9.7 9.4 10.9 

Dividend yield (%) (average price) 4.5 4.7 5.4 5.0 4.5 3.7 
Earnings yield (%) (average price) 2 7.2 6.6 9.2 6.5 5.5 5.3 

Share prices
year high 3.18 2.67 2.20 2.40 2.74 3.80 
year low 1.82 1.63 1.70 2.00 2.02 2.45 
close 1.90 1.77 2.08 2.19 2.46 3.80 
average 2.24 2.15 1.94 2.20 2.47 2.99 

1. Net profit before abnormal items as % of ordinary shareholders’ funds

2. Based on net profit after tax (pre-abnormals)
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The Directors present their report together with the consolidated
accounts of the economic entity (the “Group”), comprising Foster’s
Brewing Group Limited (the “Company”) and all its controlled entities, 
for the financial year ended 30 June 1998.

1. Principal Activities of the Group
The principal activities of the Group during the course of the financial
year were the production and marketing of alcoholic and non-alcoholic
beverages and a major investment in licensed properties.

2. Financial Results 
The consolidated net profit of the Group, including abnormal items and
after deducting income tax expense and outside equity interest, was
$446.6 million. The result compares with a profit of $250.5 million for
the previous year.

The profit from operations before abnormal items and income tax was
$423.4 million, compared with the reported result of $336.7 million in
the previous year.

The profit from operations after income tax but before abnormal items
was $275.2 million, compared with $268.3 million in the previous year.

A detailed review of the results of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Financial Commentary” of the Annual Report to Shareholders
on pages 24 to 25.

3. Review of Operations
A review of the operations of the Group during the financial year and the
results of these operations is set out in the section headed “Review of
Operations” of the Annual Report to Shareholders on pages 26 to 37.

4. State of Affairs
With the exception of the sale of the Molson Breweries Partnership and
the buy-back of shares from Asahi Beer International Holding (Australia)
Ltd. (Asahi) there was no significant change in the state of affairs of the
Group that occurred during the financial year ended 30 June 1998.

5. Shareholding
On 5 June 1997, The Broken Hill Proprietary Co. Ltd (BHP) entered an
agreement for the placement of 616.6 million shares to a wide spread of
institutional and retail investors. On the same day, the Company entered
into a buy-back agreement with Asahi for the purchase of 254.5 million
shares. The effective buy-back price of $2.46 per share was equal to the
net price received by BHP from its placement of shares.

On 24 July 1997, shareholders approved the buy-back of 254.5 million
shares for $625 million from Asahi, representing 13% of the Company’s
fully paid shares on issue.

The buy-back was completed on 31 July 1997. Upon completion of the
buy-back, Asahi had a residual holding of 0.9% of the Company’s fully
paid ordinary shares on issue which it sold in August 1997.

Following its share placement, BHP had a residual holding of 100
million shares. This represented 5.9% of the Company’s fully paid
ordinary shares on issue upon completion of the buy-back. BHP
disposed of almost all of these shares by way of a non pro-rata
entitlement offer to its shareholders in November with the balance 
sold on market.

6. Dividends
The Directors declared a final dividend of six cents per ordinary share,
fully franked at a tax rate of 36%, to be paid out of retained profits for
the year ended 30 June 1998. An interim dividend of five cents per
ordinary share, fully franked at a tax rate of 36%, was paid on 20 March
1998. The total dividends for the year will be $188.4 million.

A final dividend of six cents per ordinary share, franked to the extent of
50% at a tax rate of 36%, was paid on 3 October 1997 declared in the
report for the year ended 30 June 1997.

7. Events Subsequent to Reporting Date
Subsequent to the end of the financial year the Group acquired 100% 
of the Austotel Trust for a total outlay, including borrowings, of
approximately $300 million. The principal activity of this group is in the
leisure and hospitality industry.

8. Future Developments
In the opinion of the Directors, it would prejudice the interests of the
Company if the Directors’ Report were to refer to any further likely
developments in the operations of the Company in subsequent financial
years or to the expected results of these operations, beyond the
coverage given to these matters elsewhere in this Annual Report 
to Shareholders.

9. The Directors
Full details of the Directors of the Company at the date of this report are
set out in the section headed “Board of Directors” of the Annual Report
to Shareholders on page 39.

Directors’ Report
For the year ended 30 June 1998
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10. Directors’ Meetings
The number of Directors’ meetings and meetings of committees of
Directors held in the period each Director held office during the financial
year and the number of meetings attended by each Director are:

Committees
Director Board Audit Human Compliance Other*

Resources

A B A B A B A B A B
Continuing
GA Cohen 14 14 4 4 3 3
B Healey 14 14 4 4 1 1 1 1
FG Hilmer 14 13 1 1
ET Kunkel 14 14 4 4
JT Ralph 14 14 4 4 1 1 3 3
FJ Swan 14 14 1 1 1 1
Former
GC Evans 1 1
PE Jeans 1 1
S Oishi 1 -
E Yonenaga 1 -
DR Zimmerman 1 1

Column A indicates the number of meetings held during the period the
Director was a member of the Board and/or Committee.

Column B indicates the number of meetings attended during the period the
Director was a member of the Board and/or Committee.

In a number of instances Directors attended meetings of the Audit
Committee and Human Resources Committee by invitation. These
attendances are not recorded in the above table. The President and Chief
Executive Officer, Mr Kunkel, attended all meetings of the Audit Committee
and the Human Resources Committee by invitation.

* Other meetings of Committees of Directors are convened as required to discuss 

specific issues or projects.

11. Options
Options over 2,640,000 unissued ordinary shares were issued during
the year in accordance with the FBG Employee Share and Option Plan.
These options were issued to FBG Incentive Pty. Ltd. as trustee for two
employees of the Company. 

Details of the ordinary shares under options at the date 
of this report are:

Issue Exercise Hurdle Expiry No. of No. of 
Date Price Price Date Options Shares

$ per share $ per share

1996 2.12 2.82 Sept 1998 4,480,000 4,480,000

1996 2.12 3.08 Sept 1999 4,480,000 4,480,000

1996 2.12 3.40 Sept 2000 4,480,000 4,480,000

1997 2.36 2.82 Sept 1998 300,000 300,000

1997 2.36 3.08 Sept 1999 300,000 300,000

1997 2.36 3.40 Sept 2000 300,000 300,000

1998 2.48 3.08 Sept 1999 420,000 420,000

1998 2.48 3.40 Sept 2000 420,000 420,000

1998 2.73 3.08 Sept 1999 1,100,000 1,100,000

1998 2.73 3.40 Sept 2000 700,000 700,000

16,980,000 16,980,000

These options can only be exercised if the last sale price of the
Company’s shares on the Australian Stock Exchange reaches or
exceeds the hurdle price on any five consecutive business days during
the year preceding the time of exercise.

The names of all persons who currently hold options are entered in the
register kept by the Company, which may be inspected free of charge.
These disclosures are made in accordance with Class Order 94/284
issued by the Australian Securities & Investments Commission (ASIC) 
on 8 March 1994.
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12. Directors’ Benefits
Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company
has received or become entitled to receive a benefit, other than a benefit
included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and
receivable by Directors shown in the year end consolidated accounts by
reason of a contract made by the Company, a controlled entity or a
related entity with the Director, or with a firm of which the Director is 
a member, or with an entity in which the Director has a substantial
financial interest, with the exception of 2,000 ordinary shares issued at 
a discount of 50 cents per share to Mr ET Kunkel, President and Chief
Executive Officer and a Director of the Company. Financial assistance 
by way of an interest free loan was made available to purchase these
shares in accordance with the terms and conditions of the FBG
Employee Share and Option Plan. The same terms and conditions of 
the FBG Employee Share and Option Plan are available to all other
employees of the Company.

13. Indemnification of Officers
The Company has entered into insurance contracts which indemnify
directors and officers of the Company and its controlled entities against
liabilities. In accordance with normal commercial practices, under the
terms of the insurance contracts, the nature of the liabilities insured
against and the amount of premiums paid are confidential.

No person has been indemnified and no company in the Group has
made an agreement for indemnifying any person who is or has been an
officer of any company in the Group, except costs, including legal fees,
for certain former directors.

14. Rounding 
The Company is a company of the kind referred to in the Australian
Securities & Investments Commission Class Order 97/1005 dated 
9 July 1997. In accordance with that Class Order, amounts in the
accounts and this Directors’ Report have been rounded to the nearest
tenth of one million dollars or, where the amount is $50,000 or less,
zero, unless specifically stated to be otherwise.

This report is made in accordance with a Resolution of the Board of
Directors and is signed for and on behalf of the Directors.

Dated 24 August 1998

John T Ralph
Chairman

E T (Ted) Kunkel
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Profit and Loss Statements for the year ended 30 June 1998 1998 1997 1998 1997
Note FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

Operating revenue 2 327.3 177.3 4,970.9 2,779.9

Operating profit/(loss) before interest and abnormal items 209.8 (24.8) 534.8 426.8
Net interest income/(expense) 3 63.0 128.5 (111.4) (90.1)
Operating profit before abnormal items and income tax# 3 272.8 103.7 423.4 336.7
Abnormal items* 4 (8.9) – 128.1 (41.0)
Operating profit before income tax 263.9 103.7 551.5 295.7
Income tax attributable to operating profit 5 0.5 0.9 (140.6) (47.7)
Operating profit after income tax 264.4 104.6 410.9 248.0
Outside equity interest in operating profit after income tax 35.7 2.5
Operating profit after income tax attributable to members of the chief entity 446.6 250.5
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year 188.4 284.4 52.5 89.6
Adjustment resulting from change in accounting policy 9 – (115.0)
Aggregate of amounts transferred from/(to) reserves 18 (64.8) 28.0
Total available for appropriation 452.8 389.0 434.3 253.1
Ordinary dividends 21
- interim paid (85.6) (98.1) (85.6) (98.1)
- final payable (102.8) (102.5) (102.8) (102.5)
Retained profits at the end of the financial year 264.4 188.4 245.9 52.5

Earnings per share (cents) 20
Basic

before abnormal items 15.9 13.7
after abnormal items 25.8 12.8

Diluted
before abnormal items 15.8 13.7
after abnormal items 25.6 12.8

$m $m

#Operating profit before abnormals
Operating profit before abnormal items and income tax 423.4 336.7
Income tax attributable to operating profit before abnormal items (150.8) (70.9)
Operating profit after income tax and before abnormal items 272.6 265.8
Outside equity interests 2.6 2.5
Operating profit after income tax but before abnormal items
attributable to members of the chief entity 275.2 268.3

*Abnormal items
Abnormal items included in operating profit before tax 128.1 (41.0)
Income tax benefit attributable to abnormal items 10.2 23.2
Abnormal items after income tax 138.3 (17.8)
Outside equity interests 33.1 –
Abnormal items after income tax attributable to members of the chief entity 171.4 (17.8)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements

Foster’s Brewing Group Limited and its controlled entities50
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Balance Sheets at 30 June 1998 1998 1997 1998 1997
Note FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

Current assets
Cash 6 299.5 120.0
Receivables 7 2,033.4 3,016.7 292.3 279.0
Inventories 8 348.2 224.6
Investments 9 19.0 10.7
Lensworth assets 12 104.0
Other 13 0.5 1.0 20.9 24.4
Total current assets 2,033.9 3,017.7 979.9 762.7

Non-current assets
Receivables 7 13.3 5.1 48.1 51.7
Inventories 8 283.2 100.3
Investments 9 1,131.4 1,100.4 141.1 1,028.5
Property, plant and equipment 10 23.0 19.5 1,714.8 1,699.2
Intangibles 11 1,166.2 1,013.0
Lensworth assets 12 218.2
Other 13 4.3 3.2 86.5 70.8
Total non-current assets 1,172.0 1,128.2 3,439.9 4,181.7
Total assets 3,205.9 4,145.9 4,419.8 4,944.4

Current liabilities
Accounts payable 14 14.7 13.8 457.7 291.5
Borrowings 15 807.2 1,225.9 162.4 72.6
Provisions 16 120.6 105.6 294.7 223.4
Total current liabilities 942.5 1,345.3 914.8 587.5

Non-current liabilities
Accounts payable 14 32.3 17.6
Borrowings 15 744.8 1,182.1
Provisions 16 2.1 0.2 209.0 259.6
Total non-current liabilities 2.1 0.2 986.1 1,459.3
Total liabilities 944.6 1,345.5 1,900.9 2,046.8
Net assets 2,261.3 2,800.4 2,518.9 2,897.6

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 17 1,713.4 1,963.5 1,713.4 1,963.5
Reserves 18 283.5 648.5 554.8 845.2
Retained profits 264.4 188.4 245.9 52.5
Shareholders’ equity attributable to members of the chief entity 2,514.1 2,861.2
Outside equity interest in controlled entities 19 4.8 36.4
Total shareholders’ equity 2,261.3 2,800.4 2,518.9 2,897.6
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Statements of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 1998 1998 1997 1998 1997
Note FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

Inflows/(Outflows)

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers 4,689.0 3,888.3
Payments to suppliers, employees and principals (16.4) (18.6) (4,216.6) (3,534.3)
Dividends received 250.0 – 1.5 1.0
Interest received – 0.1 159.8 168.2
Interest paid (277.8) (263.3)
Income taxes paid (0.5) – (58.5) (18.6)
Net cash flows on behalf of controlled entities (78.3) –
Funds withdrawn from Molson Breweries Partnership 26.4 14.2
Net cash flows from operating activities 28 154.8 (18.5) 323.8 255.5

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital injected into controlled entities – (1.0)
Capital returned from controlled entities 1.8 –
Payments to acquire controlled entities (net of cash balances acquired) 28 (169.1) (44.4)
Payments to acquire outside equity interest in controlled entities – (29.5)
Payments for property, plant and equipment – (1.4) (241.3) (195.8)
Payments for acquisition of investments and other assets (263.4) (5.3)
Loans made (19.6) (14.9)
Proceeds from repayment of loans 0.1 0.7 21.3 75.1
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment – 0.3 82.6 18.4
Proceeds on sale of interest in Molson Breweries Partnership 1,048.3 –
Proceeds on sale of interest in Inntrepreneur Pub Company Limited 449.4 –
Proceeds from sale of investments and other assets – 0.2 185.5 208.3
Net cash flows from investing activities 1.9 (1.2) 1,093.7 11.9

Cash flows from financing activities
Share buy-back 17 (625.0) – (625.0) –
Proceeds from borrowings 15 957.5 1,775.6
Repayment of borrowings 15 (1,400.9) (1,870.4)
Dividends paid (187.6) (215.8) (187.6) (215.8)
Net cash flows on behalf of controlled entities 658.7 230.7
Equity contribution from outside equity interests 4.0 0.1
Net cash flows from financing activities (153.9) 14.9 (1,252.0) (310.5)

Total cash flows from activities 15 2.8 (4.8) 165.5 (43.1)
Cash at the beginning of the financial year (2.9) 1.9 111.1 140.4
Effect of exchange rate changes on foreign currency cash flows and cash balances 10.9 13.8
Cash at the end of the financial year 28 (0.1) (2.9) 287.5 111.1
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Notes to the financial statements

Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies

General
The financial statements are a general purpose financial report and have
been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations
Law, Australian Accounting Standards and Urgent Issues Group
Consensus Views.

The carrying amounts of all non-current assets have been reviewed and,
where appropriate, relevant assets have been written down to their
recoverable amount (from future use and/or disposal as appropriate). 
In assessing recoverable amount, the Directors have elected not to take
into account the effect of discounting expected net cash flows to their
present value.

Subject to the exceptions referred to elsewhere in this note with respect
to valuation of investments, property, plant and equipment and brand
names, the financial statements have been prepared on the basis of
historical cost principles.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous
years, except for the treatment of Lensworth assets mentioned below.

Comparatives
Where applicable, comparatives have been adjusted to place them on a
comparable basis with current year figures. This has not been done in
respect of Lensworth assets and results, the changed treatment of
which is described later in this note.

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared for the
economic entity (referred to as the “Group”), comprising Foster’s Brewing
Group Limited (FBG Limited) as the chief entity, and all its controlled
entities. Controlled entities are listed in note 33.

Receivables
Trade debtors are recognised for the major business activities as follows:

Beer
For the Beer business, sales are recorded when the goods leave the
brewery. Credit terms for the Beer business are generally 14 days from
the date of invoice. Credit terms for the Retail business are generally 
7 days from the date of invoice. All debts are regularly reviewed and
provided for where necessary.

Wine
Customers are generally provided 30 days credit from the date of
invoice. Credit card customers are generally billed 3 days from the 
order date.

Property and Investments
Interest on performing loans is brought to account on an accrual basis.

Inventories
Inventories of finished goods, raw materials and stores and work in
progress are valued at the lower of cost (using average or FIFO basis)
and estimated net realisable value. Cost of manufactured goods is
determined on a consistent basis, comprising prime costs and an
appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overhead expenses.
Inventories of wine stocks, shown as work in progress – at cost, have 
been classified between current and non-current based on the Group’s
sales projections for the ensuing year.

Properties held for development and sale are included at cost or valuation,
which is not greater than estimated net realisable value. Costs include
cost of acquisition, development costs and capitalised expenses.

Investments
Investments in controlled entities are carried at the lower of cost 
and recoverable amount.

Partnerships
The Group’s interest in partnerships is included in the financial statements
at cost, adjusted for the Group’s share of profits or losses as disclosed 
in the financial statements of the partnerships. The Group’s share of
partnership results for the year is included in the consolidated profit 
and loss statement. 

Equity Accounting
Investments in associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method. Under this method, the Group’s
share of profits or losses of associates, where material, is recognised as
part of operating revenue in the consolidated profit and loss statement
and the share of movements in reserves of associates is recognised in
the Group’s consolidated reserves. Associates are those entities over
which the Group has significant influence, but not control.

During the year, the Group sold its equity accounted investment in
Inntrepreneur Pub Company Limited (IPCL). Details of the sale of 
this investment are disclosed in note 9.

Other
The Group’s interests in other entities are included in the financial
statements at cost. Dividends and other distributions from these
investments are recognised in the profit and loss statement when received.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment is depreciated by the Group so that the assets 
are written off over their estimated useful economic lives, using reducing
balance or straight line methods as appropriate. Lease premiums and
leasehold improvements are written off over the period of the lease 
or estimated useful economic life, whichever is the shorter. Freehold
buildings used in the production of income are depreciated at rates
which vary with the circumstances.

Property, plant and equipment shown at valuation has been revalued 
on an existing use basis. It is the Group’s policy to undertake valuations
of property, plant and equipment on a regular basis, at intervals not
exceeding three years. The last valuation was in 1996.
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Notes to the financial statements
(continued)

Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Plant and equipment under construction has not been revalued 
and is shown as Projects in Progress at cost. 

The depreciation rates used for each class of asset are as follows:

Freehold land, buildings and improvements 1.5%
Leasehold land, buildings and improvements 4.0%
Vineyard improvements 2.5%
Plant & equipment 5.0% - 20.0%

Vineyard Development
Development costs for new vineyards include direct materials, 
direct labour and an appropriate allocation of overheads and interest.
Capitalisation of these costs continues until the expiration of four years
or until the vineyards produce to 80% of their anticipated capacity,
whichever is the earlier. Such capitalised amounts do not result in the
carrying value of the vineyard developments exceeding their recoverable
amount. Vineyard developments in progress are not revalued as part of
the regular revaluation programme because they are regarded as a
separate class of asset and carried at cost until the development is
completed. On completion, the vineyard developments are depreciated
over their expected useful lives.

Leasing
Where an asset is acquired by means of a finance lease, the present
value of the minimum lease payments is recognised as an asset at the
beginning of the lease term and amortised on a straight line basis so as
to write the asset off over its estimated useful life. The liability in respect
of capitalised leases is reduced by the principal component of each
lease payment and the interest component is expensed.

Leases classified as operating leases are not capitalised and lease 
rental payments are charged against profits as incurred.

Intangibles
Brand Names
The brand names of the Carlton and United business are carried at
Directors’ valuation 1994. For the purpose of the 1994 valuation,
reference was made to an independent valuation performed at 30 June
1994 which was based on the lower of capitalised royalty streams
(actual or imputed) and estimated current market value. In carrying out
their valuation, while the Directors followed the same methodology as
the independent valuers, they adopted several different assumptions
which they considered to be more appropriate in the circumstances 
and which resulted in a lower value. Other brand names related to the
brewing business acquired since 30 June 1994 are shown at cost. 

Brand names of Mildara Blass, part of the Wine business, are included 
in the financial statements at cost, determined by reference to an
independent valuation completed following the acquisition of these
businesses in 1996. 

Expenditure incurred in developing, maintaining or enhancing brand
names is written off against operating profit in the year in which it 
is incurred.

The brand names are not amortised as the Directors believe that their
useful lives are of such duration that the amortisation charge, if any,
would not be material.

The carrying value of these brands is reviewed each year to ensure 
that it is not in excess of recoverable amount. The review in 1997 
was supported by an independent valuation of the brand names.

Goodwill
Goodwill on acquisition is capitalised and amortised on a straight line
basis over the lesser of the period of time during which the benefits 
are expected to arise and twenty years. The carrying value of each item
of goodwill is reviewed annually. All material amounts of goodwill are
currently being amortised over twenty years.

Mailing Lists
Mailing lists in the Wine business are included in the financial
statements at cost. In reviewing the value of assets acquired in the
Cellarmaster Wines Group at 1 July 1997, the mailing lists were valued
by independent valuers. The valuation based on the current value of 
the future net cash flows was found to approximate the book value 
of the mailing lists. The mailing lists are amortised over twenty years.

Lensworth Assets
Change in accounting policy
In the current year, the Lensworth Group result is included in operating
profit before abnormal items and tax. In prior years it was included in
abnormal items. This change reflects the fact that the remaining major
projects of the Lensworth Group are now considered to form part of the
ongoing operations of the Group. The profit disclosures for the previous
corresponding period have not been adjusted as the current year change
reflects a change in strategy in relation to Lensworth. The previous
corresponding period disclosures refer to the former Lensworth 
strategy, which was a continuing divestment and wind down of that
Group’s assets.

In prior years, Lensworth assets were included in the balance sheet
under current assets or non-current assets, as appropriate, and were
separately identified to reflect the winding down of the Lensworth
operations. Consistent with the change of strategy for the Lensworth
assets remaining, these assets are now included on a line by line basis
in the consolidated balance sheet. Previous years comparatives have 
not been changed. 

In the current year, as part of the reclassification of Lensworth assets 
in the balance sheet, land and projects held for development and sale
have been included as inventories. In accordance with this policy, other
properties held for sale by the Group, which were classified as other
assets in prior periods, have been reclassified as inventories in the
current period. Comparatives at 30 June 1997 have been adjusted 
by $18.4 million to reflect this change.

Interest 
Interest on performing loans is brought to account on an accruals basis.
Loans have been included in receivables (note 7) at the amount of
principal outstanding plus interest accrued.

Accounts Payable
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods
or services received, whether or not billed to the Company or economic
entity. Trade accounts payable are normally settled within 60 days.
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Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Borrowings
Loans are carried at their principal amounts which represent the 
present value of future cash flows associated with servicing the debt.
Interest is accrued over the period it becomes due and that part not 
paid is recorded as part of other creditors. 

Bank loans denominated in foreign currency are hedged through various
forms of foreign exchange hedge contracts. The loans and contracts have
been valued at the exchange rate at reporting date. As a result of the
reporting date exchange rates being different to the hedge contract
exchange rate, a receivable from or payable to the hedge contract
counterparty arises, and has been included in debtors or creditors and
borrowings in the balance sheet, as applicable.

Employee Entitlements
Liabilities for employees’ entitlements to wages and salaries, annual
leave, sick leave and other current employee entitlements are accrued 
at undiscounted amounts.

Liabilities for other employee entitlements, which are not expected to 
be paid or settled within twelve months of reporting date, are accrued 
in respect of all employees at the present value of future amounts
expected to be paid.

Change in accounting policy
(i) As a result of a legal ruling the method for calculating annual and

long service leave on termination of employment has been changed
so that the definition of ordinary pay (on which employee entitlements
are calculated) includes all benefits which form part of an employee’s
salary package. The effect of this change in accounting policy for the
current reporting period is an additional charge to the profit and loss
account of $10.0 million.

(ii) To align the 1998 bonuses to the results on which they are based
the current reporting period profit and loss includes bonuses paid 
in respect of profits derived in the 1997 financial year and bonuses
accrued in respect of profits derived in the 1998 financial year. 
The effect of this change in accounting policy for the current
reporting period is an additional charge to the profit and loss account
of $10.8 million. In the future, bonuses will be accrued in the same
year as the profits to which they relate. To provide comparable
Directors’ and Executives’ remuneration disclosures, in note 22, the
current year disclosures include the 1998 bonuses and exclude the
1997 bonuses (paid in 1998) and the prior year disclosures include
the 1997 bonuses and exclude the 1996 bonuses (paid in 1997).

Income Tax
The Group uses the liability method of tax effect accounting. No provision
has been made for foreign taxes which may arise in the event of retained
profits of foreign controlled entities being remitted to Australia as there
is no present intention to make any such remittances. No provision has
been made for capital gains tax which may arise in the event of sale of
revalued assets as it is not the Group’s intention to sell any of these assets.

Derivative Financial Instruments
The Group utilises derivative financial instruments, solely for hedging
purposes, in the normal course of actively managing its exposures to
fluctuations in interest and exchange rates.

All material foreign currency transactions are hedged. Gains and losses
on hedges covering foreign exchange exposures in respect of specific
purchase and sale agreements are deferred and included in the
determination of the amounts at which the transactions are brought 
to account.

The net effect of interest rate swap agreements is included in the
calculation of net interest. The carrying amounts of interest rate swaps,
which comprise net interest receivables and payables accrued, are
included in assets or liabilities respectively.

Refer note 30 for further discussion on specific use of derivative
financial instruments.

Foreign Currencies
All figures in the accompanying financial statements and notes 
are expressed in Australian currency unless specifically identified as
being otherwise.

Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are converted at the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency balances
arising from those transactions are translated at the exchange rates at
reporting date. Gains and losses resulting from trading transactions are
included in the determination of the profit or loss for the year.

Financial statements of foreign controlled entities have been converted
to Australian currency at reporting date using the current rate method.
Gains and losses arising from conversion of financial statements of
foreign controlled entities using this method on consolidation and on
inter-entity accounts with foreign controlled entities and on hedges of
investments in foreign controlled entities are taken directly to the foreign
currency translation reserve.

Earnings per Share
Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing the operating profit
after income tax attributable to members of the chief entity by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
financial year, adjusted for any bonus elements in ordinary shares issued
during the year.

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination
of basic earnings per share by taking into account amounts unpaid on
ordinary shares and any reduction in earnings per share that may arise
from the exercise of options outstanding during the year.
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Note 2 Operating revenue 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

Net beer sales 2,165.6 1,918.6 
Other brewing group trading revenue 479.5 494.4 
Wine Group net trading revenue 413.3 211.2 
Other operating revenue
- asset sales and realisations - 0.3 1,801.1 62.4 
- interest, dividends, rental 315.7 176.0 86.0 80.8 
- share of net profits/(losses) of associates (0.6) 2.1 
- other 11.6 1.0 26.0 10.4 

327.3 177.3 4,970.9 2,779.9

Net sales of beer and wine is after deducting excise and other duties 
and taxes of $1,567.7 million (1997 $1,213.5 million).

Net beer sales includes the Group’s share of the net beer sales of the 
Molson Breweries Partnership, this share totalling $736.2 million for the 
1998 year (1997 $565.0 million).

Other brewing group trading revenue includes revenue derived from hotel 
operations, contract brewing, royalties and licence fees and sales of other 
beverages.

Wine Group net trading revenue includes the sale of wine and spirits.

Note 3 Operating profit 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

Operating profit before abnormal items and income tax has been arrived 
at after (charging) and crediting:
interest received from
- controlled entities 65.4 164.2
- other related parties 1.9 1.1
- other persons (a) - 0.1 145.6 164.8
interest paid to
- controlled entities   (2.2) (35.1)
- other related parties (1.1) (1.0)
- other persons (a) (0.2) (0.7) (260.1) (257.0)
capitalised interest 2.7 2.6 
finance charges - finance leases (0.4) (0.6)
net interest (expense)/income 63.0 128.5 (111.4) (90.1)

depreciation of
- freehold land, buildings and improvements (9.2) (6.8)
- leasehold land, buildings and improvements (0.4) (0.5) (2.2) (1.7)
- vineyard improvements (1.3) (1.3)
- plant and equipment (1.2) (1.3) (78.0) (60.3)
amortisation of
- plant and equipment under finance lease (1.6) (1.5)
- goodwill (11.3) (9.0)
- other intangibles (3.2) -
amounts to provisions for
- doubtful debts - trade debtors - (1.2)
- doubtful debts - other debtors 0.2 (0.1)
- doubtful debts - loans to other persons (0.1) - 0.1 3.3 
- employee entitlements (0.7) (0.3) (17.7) (18.5)
- other (7.5) 8.0 (11.3) 7.7
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Note 3 Operating profit (continued) 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

bad debts written off trade debtors (1.3) (0.9)
bad debts written off group entities (634.2) -
rental expense - operating leases (1.0) (0.9) (18.6) (29.8)
net profit/(loss) on disposal of
- property, plant and equipment 0.1 0.1 6.6 2.2
- investments (2.0) (0.1) 14.3 (1.0)
foreign exchange gains, net of losses 10.9 7.4
dividends received from
- controlled entities   250.3 -
- other related parties 0.1 0.4
- other investments 1.5 0.2

(a) The consolidated results for interest received from and interest paid to other persons shown 

above have been determined on a gross basis, including the impact of interest rate swaps and 

cross currency swaps used to manage the Group’s interest rate and foreign exchange exposures. 

Prior year comparatives have been adjusted on this basis.

Note 4 Abnormal items 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

(tax effect nil unless stated otherwise)

Net profit on disposal of
- Inntrepreneur Pub Company Limited and residual UK assets 6.1 -
- Molson Breweries and Coors Canada Partnerships 480.0 -

(tax expense applicable $20.0 million)

Costs of rationalisation and restructuring of Foster’s Asia operations
- writedown of property, plant and equipment (142.9) -
- other assets and costs (57.9) -

(outside equity interest $33.1 million)

Group rationalisation and restructuring of assets
- writedown of property, plant and equipment (67.8) -

(tax benefit applicable $6.8 million)
- other assets and costs (5.2) - (60.6) -

(tax benefit applicable on consolidated result $15.9 million)

Effect on the Group’s profit share from Molson Breweries Partnership of:
- restructuring and other costs (8.0) (29.6)

(tax benefit applicable 1997 $10.1 million)
- Coors settlement and related costs - (37.4)

(tax benefit applicable $13.1 million)

Increase in provisions for bonus and other employee entitlements 
due to change in accounting policy (3.7) - (20.8) -

(tax benefit applicable on FBG Limited $1.3 million, consolidated result $7.5 million)

Sale of shares and recoveries of investments previously written off - 10.6

Lensworth Group ** - 15.4 

Total abnormal items (8.9) - 128.1 (41.0)
** Refer to note 1 for the change in accounting policy for the Lensworth Group.
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Note 5 Income tax 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

The amount of income tax attributable to operating profit as shown in 
the profit and loss statement differs from the prima facie income tax 
expense attributable to operating profit. The differences are reconciled 
as follows:

prima facie income tax expense attributable to operating profit 
calculated at the rate of 36% 95.0 37.4 198.5 106.4

tax effect of
- non-recognition of future income tax benefits 2.7 - 69.8 16.1
- utilisation of previously unbooked FITB (144.4) - (57.5) (14.3)
- depreciation and amortisation not allowable 34.6 6.1
- rebateable dividends (0.6) (0.1)
- non-deductible expenditure and losses

(net of non-taxable income) 3.3 (0.7) (34.8) 0.4
- transfer of losses under group relief 47.5 -
- utilisation of available losses (4.3) (36.6) (70.7) (66.0)
- other (0.4) (1.0) (6.4) (3.6)
foreign tax rate differential 11.1 4.8
under/(over) provisions in previous years 0.1 - (3.4) (2.1)
income tax expense/(benefit) per profit and loss statement (0.5) (0.9) 140.6 47.7
comprising:
income tax expense/(benefit) on operating profit (0.5) (0.9) 150.8 70.9
income tax (benefit) on net abnormal items - - (10.2) (23.2)

(0.5) (0.9) 140.6 47.7
add/(less) income tax expense/(benefit) arising from items taken to 
foreign currency translation reserve (refer note 18) (23.6) (35.7)
total income tax expense 117.0 12.0

Future income tax benefit
There are potential future income tax benefits relating to accumulated 
revenue and capital losses in Australia and overseas which have not 
been brought to account. These benefits amount to $234 million 
(1997 - nil).

These benefits will be obtainable only if:
- the entities derive future assessable income of a nature and amount 

sufficient to enable the benefit of the deduction to be realised, 
or the benefit can be utilised by another controlled entity;

- the entities continue to comply with the conditions for deductibility 
imposed by income tax law; and

- changes in income tax legislation do not adversely affect the ability 
of the entities to realise the benefit of the deductions.
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Note 6 Cash 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

at bank, on hand and in transit 59.2 49.1
on deposit 240.3 70.9

- - 299.5 120.0

The cash on deposits is bearing floating interest rates between 5.0% and 8.5% (1997 3.5% and 6.9%)

Note 7 Receivables 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

Current
trade debtors 1.5 1.5 242.7 179.3
provision for doubtful debts (25.6) (5.4)
other debtors 0.4 0.8 50.6 117.9
provision for doubtful debts (0.9) (17.5)
loans to other persons 0.1 - 33.7 12.0
provision for doubtful debts (0.1) - (8.9) (7.6)
employee share plan loans 0.7 0.3 0.7 0.3
amounts due from controlled entities 2,575.7 4,193.3
provision for doubtful debts (544.9) (1,179.2)

2,033.4 3,016.7 292.3 279.0
Non-current
trade debtors 26.7 -
provision for doubtful debts (22.1) -
other debtors - 4.1
loans to directors of group entities 0.5 0.2 0.5 0.2
loans to other persons 30.2 42.5
employee share plan loans 12.8 4.9 12.8 4.9

13.3 5.1 48.1 51.7

Note 8 Inventories 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m
Current
finished goods at cost 162.6 85.8
raw materials and stores at cost 50.4 44.6
work in progress at cost 101.3 77.3
provision for diminution (2.9) (1.5)

- - 311.4 206.2
properties held for development and sale
- cost of acquisition 22.8 12.8
- development costs 9.6 -
- rates, taxes, interest 1.9 -
- at valuation 4.9 5.6
provision for diminution (2.4) -

- - 36.8 18.4
- - 348.2 224.6

Non-current
work in progress at cost 103.6 100.3
properties held for development and sale
- cost of acquisition 252.1 -
- development costs 16.5 -
- rates, taxes, interest 2.3 -
provision for diminution (91.3) -

- - 283.2 100.3
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Note 9 Investments 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

Current
quoted shares - at cost - 10.7
unquoted shares - at cost 13.3 -
provision for diminution (7.3) -
interest in partnerships
at cost 27.9 -
provision for diminution (14.9) -

- - 19.0 10.7

Non-current
Controlled entities
unquoted shares
- at directors’ valuation 1994 987.7 987.7
- at cost 143.7 112.5
Other
quoted shares at cost 3.6 1.3
provision for diminution (3.1) -
unquoted shares in associates - 473.9
unquoted shares at cost 119.3 101.6
provision for diminution (14.4) (7.0)
unquoted options at valuation - 26.8
interest in partnerships
at cost - 0.2 41.7 8.1
provision for diminution (6.1) (0.5)
at valuation - 424.2
other - at cost 0.1 0.1

1,131.4 1,100.4 141.1 1,028.5
quoted shares at market value 2.1 23.6
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Sale of investments
Unquoted shares in associates
On 23 September 1997 the Group announced the sale of its 
50% investment in Inntrepreneur Pub Company Limited (IPCL). 
This transaction signalled the Group’s exit from its remaining significant
non-core asset. After repayment of bank debt and fees paid to IPCL 
the Group received £206.4 million (A$462.9 million). The sale also
included the sale of the Group’s interest in the Spring Inns Estate.

In 1997, the Group adopted the equity method of accounting 
for investments in associates for the first time. This resulted in an
adjustment of $115.0 million being debited directly against consolidated
retained profits at 1 July 1996 to recognise the difference between 
the value of the investment in the parent entity’s accounts and the equity
interest in the net assets of the investee company.

Unquoted options
The unquoted options or rights linked to the market price of Scottish 
& Newcastle shares, which were part of the consideration for the 
sale of the Courage brewing business in 1995, were sold during 
January 1998. These rights were previously anticipated to be exercised
in 1999 or 2000. This transaction, together with the sale of IPCL
described above, marks the conclusion of the Group’s material
investment in the United Kingdom.

Interest in partnerships
In November 1997, the Group announced a restructure of its 
North American businesses by acquiring:
- an additional 10% stake in the Molson Breweries Partnership,

increasing its ownership interest from 40% to 50%
- a 24.95% holding in Molson USA, which is responsible for the

marketing, sales and distribution of Foster’s and Molson brands 
in the United States, and

- a 24.95% holding in Coors Canada, a partnership established 
to manage the Coors Light and other Coors brands in Canada.

The acquisitions were effective from 1 December 1997 for the
additional 10% in the Molson Breweries Partnership and the 24.95%
holding in Molson USA and from 1 January 1998 for the 24.95%
holding in Coors Canada.

In June 1998, the Group sold its entire 50% interest in the Molson
Breweries Partnership and its 24.95% interest in Coors Canada 
to The Molson Companies Limited for a total consideration of 
A$1,114.8 million ($Can 1,000.0 million). The sale realised a profit 
on book value, net of transaction costs, of A$480.0 million.

As a result of the above transactions, the Group retains at balance date
its 24.95% interest in Molson USA, a partnership with a Miller Brewing
Company controlled entity (50.1%) and The Molson Companies Limited
(24.95%).

Notes to the financial statements
(continued)
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Note 10 Property, plant and equipment 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m
Land, buildings and improvements

Freehold
at directors’ valuation 1996 529.0 594.6
accumulated depreciation (11.9) (6.5)
at cost 201.7 127.8
accumulated depreciation (3.2) (0.5)

Leasehold
at directors’ valuation 1996 4.0 4.0 15.8 51.3
accumulated depreciation (0.9) (0.5) (2.6) (1.9)
at cost 3.8 0.1 17.9 4.1
accumulated depreciation (4.4) (0.1)

Vineyard improvements
at directors’ valuation 1996 61.8 67.2
accumulated depreciation (1.9) (1.2)
at cost 19.3 4.8
accumulated depreciation (0.3) (0.1)
projects in progress at cost 22.0 15.4

6.9 3.6 843.2 854.9

Plant and equipment
at directors’ valuation 1996 15.9 15.9 623.2 690.5
accumulated depreciation (2.1) (1.2) (84.7) (50.1)
at cost  2.5 1.2 341.0 142.7
accumulated depreciation (0.3) - (82.5) (9.9)
under finance lease 8.4 6.6
accumulated amortisation (2.3) (1.8)
projects in progress at cost 0.1 - 68.5 66.3

16.1 15.9 871.6 844.3
23.0 19.5 1,714.8 1,699.2

Note 11 Intangibles 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

brand names, mailing lists, patents and licences at
- directors’ valuation 1994 668.6 668.6
- cost 303.6 210.1
accumulated amortisation (3.1) -

- - 969.1 878.7

goodwill at cost 225.7 158.9
accumulated amortisation (28.6) (24.6)

- - 197.1 134.3
- - 1,166.2 1,013.0
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Note 12 Lensworth assets 1998 1997
Consolidated

$m $m

The balance sheet presentation of Lensworth assets has been changed this year as described in note 1.
The 1998 figures shown below are included in the consolidated balance sheet on a line by line basis and 
are included below for information purposes only.

Current
receivables
- trade debtors 29.2 49.7
- provision for doubtful debts (16.2) (19.3)
- other debtors 3.5 3.6
- provision for doubtful debts (0.9) (0.9)
investments (at the lower of cost and net realisable value)
- unquoted shares 13.3 3.8
- provision for diminution (7.3) (3.5)
- interest in partnerships 27.9 -
- provision for diminution (14.9) -
properties held for development and sale
- cost of acquisition 22.8 72.0
- development and capitalised expenses 11.5 -
- provision for diminution (2.4) (2.0)
other current assets 1.1 0.6

67.6 104.0

Non-current
receivables
- trade debtors 26.7 68.9
- provision for doubtful debts (22.1) (38.0)
investments (at the lower of cost and net realisable value)
- quoted shares (market value 1998 $1.0 million, 1997 $2.9 million) 3.6 3.6
- provision for diminution (3.1) (2.4)
- unquoted shares 18.7 25.5
- provision for diminution (1.9) (6.5)
- interest in partnerships 14.2 43.6
- provision for diminution (6.1) (9.8)
properties held for development and sale
- cost of acquisition 252.1 194.8
- development and capitalised expenses 18.8 11.7
- provision for diminution (91.3) (73.3)
other non current assets 1.1 0.1

210.7 218.2
Total Lensworth assets 278.3 322.2
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Portfolio analysis Aust./ North Total
Asia America
A$m A$m A$m

Residential developments 81.2 - 81.2 23%
Other property 21.8 191.7 213.5 60%
Other assets 36.6 25.0 61.6 17%
Total portfolio 139.6 216.7 356.3

39% 61%
General provisions (78.0)
Net external assets 278.3
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Note 13 Other assets 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

Current
prepayments 0.5 0.4 19.5 17.6
deferred expenses - 0.6 1.4 6.8

0.5 1.0 20.9 24.4

Non-current
future income tax benefit 4.3 3.2 77.1 45.9
deferred expenses 9.4 24.9

4.3 3.2 86.5 70.8

Note 14 Accounts payable 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

Current
trade creditors 14.7 10.7 244.1 219.1
other creditors - 3.1 213.6 72.4

14.7 13.8 457.7 291.5

Non-current
other creditors - - 32.3 17.6

Foster’s Brewing Group Limited and its controlled entities 63

Fosters Financial Document  6/7/99 9:46 PM  Page 63



Note 15 Borrowings 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m
Current
lease liabilities 2.0 2.1
secured borrowings
- bank overdraft 5.8 0.3
- bank loans 11.6 13.6
- other - 2.0
unsecured borrowings
- bank overdraft 0.1 2.9 6.2 8.6
- bank loans 106.2 44.8
- other 30.6 1.2
amounts due to controlled entities 807.1 1,223.0

807.2 1,225.9 162.4 72.6
Non-current
lease liabilities 4.1 2.8 
secured borrowings
- bank loans 7.2 6.2
- other - 0.7
unsecured borrowings
- bank loans 29.2 495.2
- other 704.3 677.2

- - 744.8 1,182.1
Total net borrowings (including lease liabilities) consist of:
current 0.1 2.9 162.4 72.6
non-current 744.8 1,182.1
Total gross borrowings 0.1 2.9 907.2 1,254.7
Less - cash (note 6) (299.5) (120.0)
Total net borrowings 0.1 2.9 607.7 1,134.7

Reconciliation of net borrowings
net borrowings/(cash) at the beginning of the financial year 2.9 (1.9) 1,134.7 1,066.9
proceeds from borrowings 957.5 1,775.6
repayment of borrowings (1,400.9) (1,870.4)
total cash flows from activities (2.8) 4.8 (165.5) 43.1
debt acquired/(disposed) on consolidation of controlled entities 48.5 24.4
effect of exchange rate changes on foreign currency borrowings 33.4 95.1
net borrowings/(cash) at the end of the financial year 0.1 2.9 607.7 1,134.7

Secured borrowings (totalling $24.6 million) consist principally of bank and other loans secured by mortgages over freehold land and buildings. 

Note 16 Provisions 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m
Current
dividends 102.8 102.5 102.8 102.5
taxation 90.4 55.0
employee entitlements 4.0 3.1 43.9 39.6
other 13.8 - 57.6 26.3

120.6 105.6 294.7 223.4

Non-current
deferred income tax 0.1 0.1 139.0 192.4
employee entitlements 2.0 0.1 26.3 14.7
other 43.7 52.5

2.1 0.2 209.0 259.6

The aggregates of provisions for employee entitlements as shown above are $70.2 million, 
consolidated (1997 $54.3 million), and $6.0 million, FBG Limited (1997 $3.2 million).
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Note 17 Share capital 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

Issued and paid-up capital
1,712,683,139 (1997 1,962,762,711) ordinary fully paid shares 
of $1 each 1,712.7 1,962.8 1,712.7 1,962.8
41,405,538 (1997 41,405,538) employee shares of $1 each paid 
to 1.67 cents 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7

1,713.4 1,963.5 1,713.4 1,963.5

Ordinary shares
Share buy-back
On 24 July 1997, shareholders approved the buy-back of 254,451,372
shares from Asahi Beer International Holding (Australia) Ltd. The 
buy-back was completed on 31 July 1997.

FBG Employee Share and Option Plan
Ordinary Shares
Under the terms of the FBG Employee Share and Option Plan 
(the Plan), permanent employees of the Group’s controlled entities, who
have completed one year’s service, are eligible to participate in the Plan.
It is the present intention of the Directors that in any year in which an
offer of shares is made, an equal number of shares be offered to all
participating employees. An offer of shares is at the discretion of the
Directors and is subject to performance criteria.

The issue price of the shares will usually be the weighted average of 
the prices at which shares in the Company are traded on the Australian
Stock Exchange (ASX) during the one week period before the time of
allotment. Employees may pay the issue price, in whole or in part, from
their own resources or alternatively the Company will arrange an interest
free loan to fund the issue price of the shares. Repayment of loans is 
by way of dividends paid and voluntary repayment by employees. If an
employee ceases to be employed by the Group, the whole outstanding
loan must be repaid (Refer note 32).

During the year, 4,371,800 fully paid ordinary shares were issued
pursuant to the Plan to 2,275 employees of the Group’s Australian 
and New Zealand operating companies. The shares were allotted at 
a price of $2.27 per share, which was the weighted average price 
of Foster’s Brewing Group Limited shares traded on the ASX between 
1 December and 5 December, 1997 (inclusive), less fifty cents per
share, in accordance with FBG Employee Share Plan rules.

Share Options
On issue at reporting date were options over 16,980,000 unissued
ordinary shares, issued under the Foster’s Employee Share Plan.

2,640,000 of these share options were issued during the year.
1,800,000 were issued at an exercise price of $2.73 per share and of
these 1,100,000 of these options are exercisable in 1999 and 700,000
are exercisable in 2000. 840,000 were issued at an exercise price of
$2.48 per share exercisable in two equal tranches in 1999 and 2000.

Options over 900,000 unissued ordinary shares were issued in 1997 
at an exercise price of $2.36 per share and exercisable in three equal
tranches in 1998, 1999 and 2000. The remaining 13,440,000 options
over unissued shares are exercisable in three equal tranches in 1998,
1999 and 2000 at an exercise price of $2.12 per share.

Options can only be exercised if the last sale price of the Company’s
shares on the ASX reaches or exceeds on any five consecutive business
days during the twelve months preceding the time of exercise $2.82 in
respect of the options expiring in 1998, $3.08 in respect of the options
expiring in 1999 and $3.40 in respect of the options expiring in 2000.
The criteria allowing the options expiring in 1998 to be exercised has
been met.

Employee shares
A total of 41,405,538 (1997 41,405,538) of these shares are on issue
at the reporting date.

36,002,769 (1997 36,002,769) of these shares are held by Group
Superannuation Funds in their capacity as Approved or Plan Transferees
under the chief entity’s employee share plans. A call in respect of these
shares may only be made at the request of the holder or in the event of
a call being made by a liquidator or receiver.

The remaining 5,402,769 (1997 5,402,769) shares are held on behalf 
of employees and former employees of the Group. A call in respect of
these shares may be made at the request of the holder or in the event
of a call being made by a liquidator or receiver. A call may also be made
in respect of these shares following the relevant employee ceasing to be
an employee of the Group, provided that the market price of a fully paid
ordinary share in the capital of the chief entity has exceeded the issue
price of the relevant partly paid share for a period of not less than forty
consecutive business days. A call made following an employee ceasing
to be an employee of the Group will be cancelled if the shares are
transferred to an Approved or Plan Transferee before the call falls due.

No partly paid shares were issued during the year.
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Note 18 Reserves 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

capital redemption reserve 3.3 3.3 6.0 6.0
capital reconstruction reserve 3.2 3.2 3.2 3.2
asset revaluation reserve 3.3 3.3 267.4 343.0
share premium reserve 273.7 638.7 274.7 639.6
foreign currency translation reserve 3.5 (146.6)

283.5 648.5 554.8 845.2

Details of movement
Asset revaluation reserve
opening balance 3.3 3.3 343.0 343.7
transfers to retained profits (75.6) -
write down of previously revalued assets - (0.7)
closing balance 3.3 3.3 267.4 343.0

Share premium reserve
opening balance 638.7 637.1 639.6 638.0
issue of shares - employee share plan 5.5 1.6 5.5 1.6
share buy-back (370.5) - (370.5) -
closing balance 273.7 638.7 274.6 639.6

Foreign currency translation reserve
opening balance (146.6) (137.0)
transfer to retained profits 140.4 (28.0)
translation gain/(loss) on investment in foreign controlled entities, 
net of hedging and after allowing for a related income tax benefit of 
$23.6 million (1997 benefit $35.7 million) - refer also note 5 9.7 18.4
closing balance 3.5 (146.6)

Note 19 Outside equity interest in controlled entities 1998 1997
Consolidated

$m $m

share capital 42.5 32.7
retained profits (46.6) (5.7)
reserves 8.9 9.4

4.8 36.4

Note 20 Earnings per share 1998 1997
Consolidated

Basic earnings per share (cents) based on operating profit after income 
tax attributable to members of the chief entity

before abnormal items 15.9 13.7
after abnormal items 25.8 12.8

Weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue used in the
calculation of basic earnings per share (in thousands) 1,731,716 1,962,136

Diluted earnings per share (cents) based on operating profit after
income tax attributable to members of the chief entity

before abnormal items 15.8 13.7
after abnormal items 25.6 12.8

Weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue used in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share (in thousands)  1,747,084 1,976,194

There have been, to date, no conversions to, calls of, or subscriptions for ordinary shares or issues of potential ordinary shares since 30 June 1998.
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Note 21 Dividends 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

The amount of dividends that have been or will be franked 
(tax rate of 36%) 188.4 51.2 188.4 51.2
The amount of dividends that have not been or will not be franked - 149.4 - 149.4
Dividends paid or provided for 188.4 200.6 188.4 200.6

The proposed dividends will be 100% franked at a tax rate of 36% out of existing 
franking credits or out of franking credits arising from the payment of income tax 
in the period subsequent to 30 June 1998.

Amount of franking credits at reporting date available for use in subsequent years, 
after adjusting for income tax payable and dividends proposed. 30.3 62.6 30.3 62.6

Note 22 Remuneration of directors and executives 1998 1997
FBG Limited

$’000 $’000
Directors
Aggregate of income received, or due and receivable, by directors (including 
former directors) of FBG Limited from any Group entity (including contributions 
to superannuation funds and amounts paid for redundancy and retirement benefits). 
This amount includes fees of $498,000 (1997 $760,000) received by non-executive 
directors of FBG Limited. 4,027 5,190

1998 1997
FBG Limited

Number of directors of FBG Limited whose total income was within the following bands:
$

1  - 10,000 5 2
10,001 - 20,000 - 1
20,001 - 30,000 - 3
40,001 - 50,000 - 1
50,001 - 60,000 1 1
60,001 - 70,000 - 3
70,001 - 80,000 1 3

100,001 - 110,000 1 1
110,001 - 120,000 1 1
120,001 - 130,000 1 -
130,001 - 140,000 - 1
220,001 - 230,000 - 1
240,001 - 250,000 1 -
490,001 - 500,000 - 1

1,310,001 - 1,320,000 1 -
1,660,001 - 1,670,000 - 1
1,840,001 - 1,850,000 - 1
1,960,001 - 1,970,000 1 -

13 21

1998 1997
Consolidated

$’000 $’000
Aggregate of income received, or due and receivable, by directors of all 
Group entities (including contributions to superannuation funds and amounts 
paid for redundancy and retirement benefits). This amount represents the 
total income of 158 (1997 - 168) Group entity directors, including overseas 
residents, and consists predominantly of fixed salaries. 28,609 29,435
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Note 22 Remuneration of directors and executives (continued)

1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Executives - domiciled in Australia
Aggregate of income received, or due and receivable, from any Group 
entity by executive officers of FBG Limited whose income is more than 
$100,000 (including contributions to superannuation funds and amounts 
paid for redundancy and retirement benefits). 9,168 8,973

Aggregate of income received, or due and receivable, from any Group 
entity by executive officers of Group entities whose income is more than 
$100,000 (including contributions to superannuation funds and amounts 
paid for redundancy and retirement benefits). 21,424 19,278

Numbers of executive officers whose total income was more than $100,000 are shown within the following bands:

1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$
100,001 - 110,000 1 1 1 1
110,001 - 120,000 1 1 3 1
120,001 - 130,000 - 1 - 3
130,001 - 140,000 1 1 1 1
140,001 - 150,000 - - - 3
150,001 - 160,000 - 1 2 4
160,001 - 170,000 - - 2 2
170,001 - 180,000 1 - 2 -
180,001 - 190,000 1 1 3 2
190,001 - 200,000 - - 1 -
200,001 - 210,000 - 1 - 2
220,001 - 230,000 1 2 3 3
230,001 - 240,000 1 - 1 2
240,001 - 250,000 - 1 1 2
250,001 - 260,000 - - 1 -
260,001 - 270,000 - 1 2 2
270,001 - 280,000 1 - 2 -
280,001 - 290,000 1 - 1 2
290,001 - 300,000 - - 1 -
300,001 - 310,000 1 - 4 1
310,001 - 320,000 - 1 - 2
320,001 - 330,000 - - - 1
330,001 - 340,000 - 2 - 3
340,001 - 350,000 - - - 2
350,001 - 360,000 - - 2 -
360,001 - 370,000 - 1 - 1
370,001 - 380,000 2 - 2 1
380,001 - 390,000 - - 1 -
400,001 - 410,000 - - 1 1

(continued next page)

Included in the remuneration and banding disclosures above are
amounts paid and payable to two (1997 eight) former directors in
respect of legal proceedings totalling $1,364,400 (1997 $2,563,369).
The 1997 amounts are shown gross of contributions of $1,000,000
received by the Group from third parties. 

The aggregate directors’ remuneration of FBG Limited for 1998 includes
bonuses of $654,000 (Group $3,935,000) accrued in relation to 1998
performance and excludes bonuses of $348,000 (Group $2,769,000)
paid during 1998 relating to 1997 performance. Similarly, the aggregated
directors’ remuneration of FBG Limited for 1997 includes bonuses of
$348,000 (Group $3,525,000) paid during 1998 but relating to 1997
performance and excludes bonuses of $314,000 (Group $2,247,000)
paid during 1997 but relating to 1996 performance.
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Note 22 Remuneration of directors and executives (continued) 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

Numbers of executive officers whose total income was more than $100,000
are shown within the following bands: (continued)

$
420,001 - 430,000 1 1 3 1
430,001 - 440,000 - - 2 -
440,001 - 450,000 - 1 - 2
450,001 - 460,000 - - 1 -
460,001 - 470,000 1 - 2 -
470,001 - 480,000 - - 1 2
500,001 - 510,000 - - 1 1
510,001 - 520,000 - - 2 -
530,001 - 540,000 - - 1 1
600,001 - 610,000 - - - 1
620,001 - 630,000 1 1 1 1
760,001 - 770,000 - 1 - 1
880,001 - 890,000 - - - 1
930,001 - 940,000 1 - 1 -
960,001 - 970,000 1 - 1 -
980,001 - 990,000 1 - 1 -

1,000,001 - 1,010,000 - - 1 -
1,660,001 - 1,670,000 - 1 - 1
1,710,001 - 1,720,000 - 1 - 1
1,960,001 - 1,970,000 1 - 1 -

19 21 56 55

The executives referred to are the president, executive vice presidents 
and senior vice presidents and those directly accountable and responsible 
to these positions for the strategic direction and operational management 
of the Group and are domiciled in Australia. 

Note 23 Auditors’ remuneration 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Amounts received, or due and receivable, by the auditors for auditing 
and reviewing of the financial statements
- auditors of FBG Limited 539 578 1,604 1,431
- associated firms of FBG Limited auditors 562 529
- other auditors    - 84

Amounts received, or due and receivable, 
by the auditors for internal audit services
- auditors of FBG Limited   726 - 726 -

Amounts received, or due and receivable, 
by the auditors for other services
- auditors of FBG Limited 2,883 3,750 3,169 4,333
- associated firms of FBG Limited auditors 121 291 1,959 1,808
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The aggregate executives’ remuneration of FBG Limited for 1998 
includes bonuses of $1,576,000 (Group $3,859,000) accrued in 
relation to 1998 performance and excludes bonuses of $1,127,000 
(Group $2,615,000) paid during 1998 relating to 1997 performance. 
Similarly, the aggregated executives’ remuneration of FBG Limited for 
1997 includes bonuses of $865,000 (Group $3,140,000) paid during 
1998 but relating to 1997 performance and excludes bonuses of 
$759,000 (Group $2,187,000) paid during 1997 but relating to 
1996 performance.
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Note 24 Commitments 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

Leases

Finance leases

expenditure contracted and provided for in the financial statements
- under 1 year 2.3 2.4
- between 1 and 2 years 2.3 1.5
- between 2 and 5 years 2.1 1.9
total commitments 6.7 5.8
less future finance charges (0.6) (0.9)
finance lease liabilities 6.1 4.9

current (note 15) 2.0 2.1
non-current (note 15) 4.1 2.8

6.1 4.9

Non cancellable operating leases

expenditure contracted but not provided for in the financial statements
- under 1 year 0.5 0.4 25.2 29.0
- between 1 and 2 years 0.2 0.3 19.1 23.3
- between 2 and 5 years 0.3 0.2 39.7 41.4
- over 5 years 45.7 46.2

1.0 0.9 129.7 139.9

Capital expenditure and other commitments

The following expenditure has been contracted
but not provided for in the financial statements
Capital expenditure
- under 1 year 6.3 15.3

Other commitments

- under 1 year 8.5 7.9
- between 1 and 2 years 0.2 2.0
- between 2 and 5 years - 1.4

8.7 11.3
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Year 2000 commitments
The Group intends to be Year 2000 compliant. A Steering Committee 
has been in place since July 1997 to address the Year 2000 procedures 
and take all necessary corrective action. The Steering Committee covers 
all divisions within the Group and is responsible for ensuring Year 2000 
compliance.

In July 1996 a review of technology was commenced within the Group. 
That review resulted in expenditure by the Group of $25.0 million on a 
technological upgrade of its business systems. By its very nature, the 
review addressed many of the Year 2000 issues. The additional known 
cost to be expended is estimated at $0.8 million. These costs include 
technology replacement cost, monitoring cost and other necessary 
expenditure.

Lensworth assets
In the Lensworth group, there are no remaining loans provided under 
contractual arrangements, the terms of which could require the Group 
to provide additional funding (1997: maximum of $9.7 million).
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Note 25 Contingent Iiabilities 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

Arising in respect of individual Group entities:
amounts uncalled on shares in controlled entities 698.1 698.1
claims - 0.5

Arising in respect of related bodies corporate:
guarantees
- banks and other financiers 979.1 1,262.2
- other persons 1.0 -

Arising in respect of other persons:
guarantees
- banks and other financiers 25.8 6.9
- other persons - 2.3 2.7 13.1

retirement benefits payable on termination in certain circumstances, 
under service agreements with executive directors and other persons 
who take part in the management of the company 9.3 9.0 12.1 11.5

EFG Australia Limited (EFG) and ELFIC Limited (ELFIC) are being sued
by Linter Group Limited (In liquidation) (Linter). Linter is also suing its
auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers. As a consequence, there are separate
proceedings by PricewaterhouseCoopers against EFG and by EFG and
ELFIC against PricewaterhouseCoopers, the substance of which is that
each seeks to pass the claim on to the other. Each of these claims is in
a preliminary phase. However, EFG and ELFIC have been advised that,
based on information available to date, the claims should fail. EFG and
ELFIC have denied liability for the claims and are vigorously defending
the proceedings.

ELFIC has commenced action against a debtor, in relation to an
outstanding debt. The debtor has cross claimed against FBG Limited,
ELFIC, and EFG Leasing Limited (EFG Leasing). FBG Limited, ELFIC
and EFG Leasing have been advised that based on information available

the claims should fail. The companies have denied liability and are
vigorously defending the proceedings. 

The liquidator of the Emanuel Group of companies has commenced legal
action against several companies in the Group including FBG Limited.
The claims allege wrongdoing in relation to certain financing and related
transactions between Emanuel and the Group. The Group has been
advised that the claims should fail. FBG Limited and the other group
entities that are party to the action have denied liability for the claim 
and are vigorously defending the proceedings. 

Various entities in the Group are party to other legal actions which 
have arisen in the ordinary course of business. The actions are being
defended and the directors believe no material losses will arise. 
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Note 26 Segment results
Operating

Total assets at Net external profit before
year end operating revenue income tax Abnormal items

1998 1997 1998 1997 1998 1997 1998 1997
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Industry segments
Beer 2,524.5 2,975.8 2,777.0 2,434.9 455.8 400.7 166.5 (67.0)
Wine 1,083.6 783.8 418.8 216.2 82.5 57.2 (40.8) -
Property and Investments 370.3 321.3 90.7 - 28.6 - 6.1 26.0 
Corporate 441.4 863.5 47.4 64.3 (32.1) (31.1) (3.7) -
Abnormal items 1,637.0 64.5 128.1 (41.0)

4,419.8 4,944.4 4,970.9 2,779.9 662.9 385.8 128.1 (41.0)
Unallocated
Net interest expense (111.4) (90.1)

551.5 295.7 

Geographical segments
Australia and Pacific 3,977.3 3,548.4 2,471.1 2,093.5 481.4 384.6 (149.2) 26.0 
Asia 133.1 172.2 65.1 45.1 (42.2) (19.0) (200.8) -
Europe 71.6 621.9 41.5 8.0 19.7 2.4 6.1 -
Americas 237.8 601.9 756.2 568.8 75.9 58.8 472.0 (67.0)
Abnormal items 1,637.0 64.5 128.1 (41.0)

4,419.8 4,944.4 4,970.9 2,779.9 662.9 385.8 128.1 (41.0)

The Group operates predominantly in the beverage industry which
includes the production and marketing of alcoholic and non-alcoholic
beverages and a major investment in licensed properties.

The industry and geographical segments reported have been revised in
the current year to better reflect the Group’s operations. The brewing
divisions have been combined into one segment, “Beer”, while the
Lensworth division has been included in “Property and Investments” 
to reflect the ongoing nature of this division’s operations (refer note 1
Lensworth assets - change in accounting policy). The Asia region,

previously included in “Australia/Pacific/Asia”, is separately reported
under the revised segment note format. The net interest expense has
not been allocated across segments as the financing function of the
Group is centralised through the Group’s Treasury division.

The Beer industry segment includes the operations of Carlton’s Retail
division which made a contribution of $54.1 million (1997 $42.2 million). 

The 1997 profit result (before interest) of the Lensworth segment 
is included in abnormal items. Refer also note 4.

Note 27 Superannuation commitments

The Group has established a number of retirement funds which provide
either defined or accumulation type benefits for employees within the
Group, worldwide. 

The benefits under the funds are provided from contributions by
employee members and entities in the Group and income from fund
assets invested. The members’ contributions are at varying rates while
contributions from Group entities, in respect of defined benefit funds, are
made at levels necessary to ensure that these funds are maintained with
sufficient assets to meet their liabilities and, in respect of accumulation
funds, are at fixed rates. The rate of contributions by Group entities, for
defined benefit funds, is determined by actuarial valuations, which are
carried out at regular intervals not exceeding three years.

Group entities are obliged to contribute to these funds as set out in 
the relevant Trust Deeds or in accordance with industrial agreements 
or legislation, subject to their right to reduce, suspend or terminate
contributions as specified in the relevant Trust Deeds.

Based on the latest actuarial valuations, the assets of all funds are
materially sufficient to satisfy all benefits that would have vested in the
event of their termination or in the event of the voluntary or compulsory
termination of employment of each employee. The assets of the funds
are not included in these financial statements.
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The Group sponsors four defined benefit superannuation plans. The accrued 
benefits, fund assets at net market value and vested benefits of the only 
material fund and the aggregate of all defined benefit funds are:

1998 1997
Consolidated

$m $m

Foster’s Brewing Group Superannuation Fund 
Fund assets at 30 June 171.7 166.1 
Accrued benefits at 30 June (130.4) (120.2)
Excess of fund assets over accrued benefits 41.3 45.9 
Vested benefits 130.4 117.4 
Employer contributions to the fund 0.4 0.6 
Employer contributions payable to the fund - - 

Aggregate totals 
Fund assets at 30 June 181.9 178.0 
Accrued benefits at 30 June (139.8) (129.0)
Excess of fund assets over accrued benefits 42.1 49.0 
Vested benefits 139.8 126.0 
Employer contributions to the fund 0.4 0.6 
Employer contributions payable to the fund - - 

Fund assets, accrued benefits and vested benefits for the above funds 
are as at 30 June 1998, except for an immaterial fund where estimates 
as at 30 June 1998 have been used.

The Group is not aware of any material adverse movements in the 
financial position of those funds since the last actuarial valuations.

Accrued benefits are benefits which the fund is presently obliged to pay 
at some future date, as a result of the membership of the fund.

Vested benefits are member entitlements which are not conditional upon 
the continued membership of the fund and are payable on resignation 
from the fund.
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Note 27 Superannuation commitments (continued)

The major funds, being those with assets in excess of $20 million, are:
Date of last

Fund Benefit type Basis of contribution actuarial valuation Actuary

Foster’s Brewing Group Defined Benefit Balance of cost June 1996 R. S. Mitchell
Superannuation Fund Lump sum FIA, FIAA, ASA

Carlton and United Breweries Accumulation Defined contribution Not applicable Not applicable
Employees’ Superannuation Scheme Lump sum

Note 28 Notes to the statement of cash flows 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

Reconciliation of cash
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash at 
bank, on hand, in transit and on short term deposit, and investments in 
money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash at 
the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is 
reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as follows:

cash at bank, on hand and in transit (note 6) 59.2 49.1 
cash on deposit (note 6) 240.3 70.9 
bank overdrafts (note 15) (0.1) (2.9) (12.0) (8.9)

(0.1) (2.9) 287.5 111.1
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Note 28 Notes to the statement of cash flows (continued) 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

Reconciliation of net cash flows from operating activities to 
operating profit after income tax 

operating profit after income tax 264.4 104.6 410.9 248.0 
depreciation and amortisation 1.6 1.8 106.7 80.8 
cash withdrawn in excess of partnership income 26.4 21.7 
(profit)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (0.1) 0.1 (6.6) (13.3)
provisions 8.3 0.3 28.7 8.7 
movement in unrealised foreign exchange (15.5) (10.8)
change in working capital, net of effects from 
acquisition/disposal of controlled entities
- receivables (50.9) (122.8) 45.6 11.3 
- inventories (47.1) (16.9)
- other assets - 0.9 (3.5) (29.7)
- accounts payable 0.9 5.6 (204.0) (48.1)
- provisions 6.7 (8.0) (13.8) 5.3 
net cash flows on behalf of group entities (78.3) - 
other 2.2 (1.0) (4.0) (1.5)
net cash flows from operating activities 154.8 (18.5) 323.8 255.5 

Entities acquired
Consideration paid and accrued
- cash 274.7 46.2 
- debt acquired (95.4) - 
- share capital acquired in prior years - 16.4 
- accrued 19.1 - 

198.4 62.6 
Net assets acquired
cash 10.2 1.8 
receivables 18.9 1.0 
inventories 73.7 0.4 
property, plant and equipment 87.8 85.3 
intangibles 66.5 - 
accounts payable (17.3) (1.1)
borrowings (29.8) (26.2)
provisions (6.6) (3.9)
other 7.8 5.3 

211.2 62.6 

outside equity interest acquired (1.3) (0.1)
goodwill acquired 82.8 - 
cash contributed by joint venture partner - 0.1 

292.7 62.6 

cash consideration (net of debt acquired) 179.3 46.2 
less: net cash balances acquired (10.2) (1.8)

169.1 44.4 

Entities disposed of
Consideration 1

cash 1,048.3 - 

Net assets disposed of
investments 773.4 - 
provisions (138.6) - 
borrowings (66.5) - 

568.3 - 
profit on disposal 480.0 - 

1. Cash received from the sale of the Molson Partnership structure comprised the sale price of A$1,114.8 million ($Can 1,000.0 million) less debt in the structure of A$66.5 million ($Can 59.6 million). 
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Note 29 Standby arrangements and unused credit facilities 1998 1997
Consolidated

$m $m

Committed arrangements/facilities available to the Group:

Arrangements to provide standby funds and/or support facilities 1,404.4 1,812.9 
Amounts utilised 154.3 600.9 
Amount of credit unused 1,250.1 1,212.0 

Details of major arrangements are as follows:

Bank loans
Total facilities are $1,385.6 million (1997 $1,796.9 million) of which 
$1,250.1 million was unutilised (1997 $1,212.0 million). Facilities totalling 
$891.3 million have maturity dates beyond June 2002. These facilities 
are reviewable annually for further extension by mutual agreement.

Note 30 Financial instruments

Treasury, which has responsibility for the management of derivative
financial instruments, conducts the Group’s treasury activities in
accordance with the policies of the Group’s Treasury Charter which has
been approved by Foster’s Brewing Group Limited Board of Directors.
The Treasury Charter sets out the policies with respect to the internal
controls (including segregation of duties), organisational relationships,
functions, delegated authority levels, management of foreign currency
and interest rate exposures and counterparty credit limits and requires
regular reporting to the Board of Directors of exposure to derivative
financial instruments.

In particular, the Treasury Charter sets parameters for the: 
- mix of fixed/floating interest rates 
- level of the Group’s exposure to any one foreign currency and the

aggregate level of the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk
- types of derivative financial instruments which may be utilised to 

hedge the Group’s foreign currency and interest rate exposures.

Interest rate risk
The Group enters into interest rate and cross currency swaps, forward
rate agreements and interest rate options to mitigate the Group’s risk
against interest rate movements. With interest rate and cross currency
swaps, the Group agrees with other parties to exchange interest
obligations from one currency to another currency or from floating rate
to fixed rate or fixed rate to floating rate, as the case may be, calculated
by reference to an agreed notional principal amount. Forward rate
agreements are used to enable the Group to fix the interest rates 
for future periods. Interest rate options are used to limit the Group’s
exposure to movements in floating interest rates.
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Note 30 Financial instruments (continued)

Interest Rate Risk (continued)
Floating Fixed interest rate maturing in: Non
interest 1 year 1 to 5 over interest

rate or less years 5 years bearing Total
1998 Notes $m $m $m $m $m $m
Financial assets
Cash – AUD 6 218.6 218.6
Cash – CAD 6 1.2 1.2
Cash – GBP 6 45.2 45.2
Cash – NZD 6 0.9 0.9
Cash – USD 6 4.1 4.1
Cash – Other 6 29.5 29.5
Receivables1 7 2.8 0.1 12.4 15.1 296.5 326.9
Investments2 9 160.1 160.1
Total financial assets 302.3 0.1 12.4 15.1 456.6 786.5

Weighted average interest rate 5.8% 9.0% 10.0% 12.0%

Financial liabilities
Trade and other creditors 14 (0.8) (489.2) (490.0)
Bank overdraft 15 (12.0) (12.0)
Bank loans – AUD 15 - -
Bank loans – CAD 15 - -
Bank loans – GBP 15 - -
Bank loans – NLG 15 (21.5) (21.5)
Bank loans – USD 15 (61.5) (61.5)
Bank loans – Other 15 (71.2) (71.2)
Other loans – AUD 15 80.7 80.7
Other loans – USD 15 - (815.1) (815.1)
Other loans – Other 15 (0.5) (0.5)
Lease liabilities 15 (6.1) (6.1)
Total financial liabilities (92.9) - - (815.1) (489.2) (1,397.2)

Net hedging activity3 (53.8) (65.0) (50.0) 168.8 - 0.0

Total financial liabilities including hedging activities (146.7) (65.0) (50.0) (646.3) (489.2) (1,397.2)

Weighted average interest rate 8.2% 5.6% 6.0% 8.0%

Net hedging activity3

Reverse gains/losses on revaluation (167.6) (167.6)
Interest rate swaps – AUD 115.0 (65.0) (50.0) (271.3) (271.3)
Interest rate swaps – GBP -
Interest rate swaps – USD 326.1 326.1
Cross currency swaps – AUD (376.2) (376.2)
Cross currency swaps – USD 489.0 489.0
Interest rate options 375.0 (375.0) -
Net hedging activity (53.8) (65.0) (50.0) 168.8 - 0.0
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Note 30 Financial instruments (continued)

Interest Rate Risk (continued)
Floating Fixed interest rate maturing in: Non
interest 1 year 1 to 5 over interest

rate or less years 5 years bearing Total
1997 Notes $m $m $m $m $m $m
Financial assets
Cash – AUD 6 84.5 84.5
Cash – CAD 6 - -
Cash – GBP 6 0.2 0.2
Cash – NZD 6 3.2 3.2
Cash – USD 6 19.5 19.5
Cash – Other 6 12.6 12.6
Receivables1 7 1.3 5.0 12.3 14.5 292.4 325.5
Investments2 9 565.3 565.3
Total financial assets 121.3 5.0 12.3 14.5 857.7 1,010.8

Weighted average interest rate 5.5% 9.0% 10.0% 12.0%

Financial liabilities
Trade and other creditors 14 (0.8) (308.3) (309.1)
Bank overdraft 15 (8.9) (8.9)
Bank loans – AUD 15 (15.0) (15.0)
Bank loans – CAD 15 (82.7) (82.7)
Bank loans – GBP 15 (208.0) (208.0)
Bank loans – NLG 15 - -
Bank loans – USD 15 (227.3) (227.3)
Bank loans – Other 15 (26.9) (26.9)
Other loans – AUD 15 (4.0) (2.0) (4.6) (10.6)
Other loans – USD 15 - (670.5) (670.5)
Other loans – Other 15 - -
Lease liabilities 15 (4.9) (4.9)
Total financial liabilities (578.5) (2.0) - (670.5) (312.9) (1,563.9)

Net hedging activity3 112.4 (121.5) (15.0) 24.1 - 0.0

Total financial liabilities including hedging activities (466.1) (123.5) (15.0) (646.4) (312.9) (1,563.9)

Weighted average interest rate 5.9% 9.8% 8.3% 8.0%

Net hedging activity3

Reverse gains/losses on revaluation (22.9) (22.9)
Interest rate swaps – AUD 25.0 (10.0) (15.0) (271.3) (271.3)
Interest rate swaps – GBP 111.5 (111.5) -
Interest rate swaps – USD 268.2 268.2
Cross currency swaps – AUD (376.2) (376.2)
Cross currency swaps – USD 402.2 402.2
Interest rate options 375.0 (375.0) -
Net hedging activity 112.4 (121.5) (15.0) 24.1 - 0.0

1. Excludes employee share plans.

2. Excludes interest in associates.

3. Net hedging activity represents the net impact on the Group’s interest rate exposures 

from the utilisation of derivative financial instruments to hedge the Group’s interest rate 

exposures, ie. interest rate and cross currency swaps, interest rate options and forward 

rate agreements.
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Note 30 Financial instruments (continued)

Foreign exchange risk
Consistent with the risk averse approach to management of the Group’s 
foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities, foreign exchange
exposures are managed by Treasury, to minimise risk and the cost of 
risk management. Group policy is to fund foreign currency assets, 
where practicable, in the respective currencies in which such assets 
are denominated.

Forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign currency swaps and foreign
currency options are entered into to hedge the Group’s net assets and
transactions denominated in foreign currencies. The Group’s net assets
and foreign currency transactions are primarily denominated in Australian
dollars, United States dollars, Canadian dollars and Great Britain pounds.

The market value of foreign exchange contracts used to hedge the
Group’s net assets denominated in foreign currencies at reporting date
was $68.9 million (1997 $38.9 million). The market value of the foreign
exchange contracts used to hedge the Group’s foreign currency
transactional exposure was $299.6 million (1997 $178.3 million).

For contracts hedging anticipated sales and purchases denominated 
in foreign currencies, any unrealised gains and losses on the contracts,
together with the costs of the contracts, are recognised in the financial
statements at the time the underlying transaction occurs. The net
unrecognised loss on hedges of anticipated sales and purchases
denominated in foreign currencies at reporting date was $2.8 million
(1997 $7.7 million gain).

Where the underlying transaction has occurred, the effect of the 
hedge has been recognised in the financial statements. At reporting
date, trade debtors included $8.0 million of sales proceeds due in
foreign currencies. Accounts payable included $1.5 million of purchase
liabilities in foreign currencies. All trade debtors and trade creditors 
are fully hedged. 

At balance date, the details of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts are (Australian dollar equivalents): 

1998 1997 1998 1997
$m $m Average Exchange Rate

Buy CAD Sell AUD 0 - 6 months 607.0 22.7 0.8884 1.0673
Sell CAD Buy AUD 0 - 6 months 608.8 10.9 0.8980 1.0467
Buy GBP Sell AUD 0 - 6 months 15.9 41.3 0.3621 0.4951
Sell GBP Buy AUD 0 - 6 months 78.9 16.8 0.3715 0.4602
Sell GBP Buy AUD 6 - 12 months 6.2 - 0.4040 -
Sell GBP Buy AUD greater than 12 months 7.1 - 0.4001 -
Sell NZD Buy AUD 0 - 6 months 23.0 - 1.1806 -
Buy USD Sell AUD 0 - 6 months 87.4 5.6 0.5981 0.7821
Buy USD Sell AUD 6 - 12 months - 192.9 - 0.7776
Sell USD Buy AUD 0 - 6 months 193.5 20.3 0.6116 0.7514
Sell USD Buy AUD 6 - 12 months 5.1 10.3 0.5900 0.7639
Buy Foreign Currency Sell AUD 0.3 2.0
Sell Foreign Currency Sell AUD 9.6 0.3

Credit Risk
Credit risk, in relation to off-balance sheet contracts, represents the 
loss that would occur if counterparties failed to meet their obligations
under respective contracts or arrangements. The Group is not materially
exposed to any individual overseas country or individual counterparty.

Credit risk on off-balance sheet contracts is minimised as the Group
deals only with prime financial institutions in respect of the entering 
into of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposures to
fluctuations in interest and exchange rates. Credit limits for each
counterparty are approved annually by the Foster’s Brewing Group
Limited Board of Directors.

The maximum credit risk exposure on foreign currency hedge contracts
is the net fair value of in-the-money contracts. At reporting date this
amount was $130.8 million (1997 $68.1 million).

The maximum credit risk exposure on interest rate hedge contracts at
reporting date, which is limited to the net fair value of in-the-money
hedge contracts at that date was $45.5 million (1997 $65.1 million).

Net fair values
On-balance sheet financial instruments
The net fair value of cash and cash equivalents and non-interest 
bearing monetary financial assets and financial liabilities approximate
their carrying value.

The net fair values of other monetary financial assets and financial
liabilities are either based upon market prices where a market exists or
has been determined by discounting the expected future cash flows by
the current interest rate for financial assets and financial liabilities with
similar risk profiles.

Listed equity investments have been valued by reference to market
prices prevailing at reporting date. For unlisted equity investments, the
net fair value is an assessment by the directors based on the underlying
net assets, future maintainable earnings and any special circumstances
pertaining to a particular investment. 
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Note 30 Financial instruments (continued)

Net fair values (continued)
The carrying amount and net fair values of financial assets 
and financial liabilities as at reporting date are: 1998 1997 1998 1997

Carrying Carrying Net fair Net fair
amount amount value value

$m $m $m $m

Financial assets
Cash 299.5 120.0 299.5 120.0 
Trade debtors 221.7 173.9 221.7 173.9 
Other debtors 49.7 104.5 49.7 104.5 
Loans to directors and other persons 55.5 47.1 55.5 47.1 
Quoted shares 0.5 12.0 2.1 23.6 
Unquoted shares 110.9 94.6 110.9 94.6 
Unquoted options and other investments 0.1 26.9 0.1 26.9 
Interest in partnerships 48.6 431.8 48.6 431.8 
Total financial assets 786.5 1,010.8 788.1 1,022.4 

Financial liabilities
Trade and other creditors 490.0 309.1 490.0 309.1 
Bank overdraft 12.0 8.9 12.0 8.9 
Bank loans 154.2 559.8 154.2 559.8 
Other loans 734.9 681.1 734.9 681.1 
Lease liabilities 6.1 4.9 6.1 4.9 
Total financial liabilities 1,397.2 1,563.8 1,397.2 1,563.8 

Off-balance sheet derivative financial instruments
The valuation of off-balance sheet derivative financial instruments 
detailed below reflects the estimated amounts which the Group expects 
to pay or receive to terminate the contracts (net of transaction costs) 
or replace the contracts at their current market rates at reporting date. 
This is based on independent market quotations and determined using 
standard valuation techniques.

As the purpose of these derivative financial instruments is to hedge 
the Group’s underlying assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies and risk to interest rate fluctuations, it is unlikely that, in the 
absence of abnormal circumstances, these contracts would be 
terminated prior to maturity. 

The net fair value and gross notional amounts of off-balance sheet 
derivative financial instruments held at reporting date are:

1998 1997 1998 1997
Gross notional amount Net fair value

$m $m $m $m

Interest rate hedging instruments 
interest rate swaps 36.4 40.4 
cross currency swaps 127.9 34.6 
interest rate options (23.2) (18.6)

Foreign currency hedging instruments
interest rate swaps - 275.0 - 10.3 
cross currency swaps - 692.1 - 22.6 
foreign exchange contracts (9.1) 12.1 
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Note 31 Foreign currency receivables and payables 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$m $m $m $m

The Australian dollar equivalents of balances denominated in currencies 
other than the domestic reporting currency of each relevant controlled 
entity, which are not hedged or not effectively hedged at reporting date.

Receivables - current
- United States dollars 2.8 1.3 

Note 32 Related party disclosures 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Directors
The following persons held the position of director of Foster’s Brewing 
Group Limited during the financial year:
Messrs. GA Cohen, GC Evans, B Healey, FG Hilmer, PE Jeans, 
ET Kunkel, S Oishi, JT Ralph, FJ Swan, E Yonenaga and DR Zimmerman

Director-related transactions
In accordance with the terms of the FBG Employee Share and Option 
Plan, the Company issued fully paid shares and provided financial 
assistance for the purpose of the acquisition of shares to employees, 
some of whom are directors of Group companies.

Aggregate of loans made to directors during the year:
- share plan loans 341 105 341 105 
Aggregate of repayments received from directors during the year:
- share plan loans 35 14 35 14 

Share Plan loans were made to and/or repayments (including by way 
of offset of dividend entitlements) received from the following executive
directors of Group companies. (There were no allocations to non
executive directors under the FBG Employee Share and Option Plan 
nor were there loans to such directors.)

Messrs. RE Beker, PA Bobeff, IW Booker, AP Brassil, JF Bresnan, 
MP Brooks, PJM Browne, LJ Bullock, MJ Burslem, VT Cain, 
MA Christophersen, A Chu, DM Coelho, GS Cook, KE Criswick, 
BJ Croarken, PR Dale, NA D’Aquino, MV Dean, RK Dudfield, BM
Dunham, BD Elliott, MP Forness, AA Gardner, RL Gascoigne, 
KJ Gittoes, PCG Goodson, DM Hall, RNC Hammond, RC Holden, 
JM Hore, JYS Hu, NL Jago, A Jefferies, AJ Kemp, PR Kennedy, 

HL King, JS King, RC King, J Koa, ET Kunkel, RP Lal, IHW Lam, 
JL Latchford, K McNairn, M Miles, B Moore, JJ Murphy, KR Murphy, 
T Murray, B Nicholson, CJ O’Dwyer, JF O’Grady, TL O’Hoy, MF Pelly, 
NR Phillips, GD Rankin, BA Richardson, KP Robinson, JT Ryan, 
RW Scully, IAJ Shannon, RD Shaw, J Shortt, DM Smith, IDF Smith, 
RJ Smith, SH Tee, PJ Turner, RG Willersdorf, CD Willis, SJW Wilson. 

During the year, in accordance with a waiver granted by Australian Stock
Exchange Limited, Mr Kunkel purchased 2,000 (1997 1,000) ordinary
shares of $1.00 each pursuant to the terms and conditions of the FBG
Employee Share and Option Plan and received a loan for the purchase
of the shares on the same terms and conditions available to all other
employees of the Company (Refer note 17).
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A director-related entity of Mr RC King supplied wine grapes to Mildara
Blass Limited under a standard grape purchase contract. The total
amount of the purchases brought to account was $1,665,705. 

Paracor Company Inc., a director-related entity of Messrs. J Lynch 
and VA Ravindran, was paid fees totalling $250,000 for provision 
of management and consulting services to Group companies in the
United States of America.

The above transactions were made on commercial terms and conditions
and at market rates.

In addition, Paracor Company Inc. manages and controls Raly Investors
Partners, L.P. An option agreement exists between Raly Investors
Partners, L.P. and the Group. The agreement will result in a change 
to the Group’s effective ownership interest in Foster’s India Limited 
from 74% to 64% when the option is exercised. The option can only 
be exercised after June 2003.

In addition, FBG Limited and the Group entered into the following
transactions which are insignificant in amount, with directors and their
director-related entities within normal employee, customer or supplier
relationships on terms and conditions no more favourable than those

available in similar arm’s length dealings: payments of salaries and
benefits and purchase of Group products.

Ownership interests in related parties
All material ownership interests in related parties are disclosed 
in note 9 to the financial statements.

Transactions with related parties
Material transactions with related parties during the year, 
in addition to investment activities disclosed in note 9 were:

- supply agreement payments to Inntrepreneur Pub Company Limited 
(a 50% owned associate) of $21.2 million (1997 $25.4 million).

Transactions with entities in the wholly-owned Group
FBG Limited advanced and repaid loans and provided management,
accounting and administrative assistance to other entities in the wholly-
owned Group during the year. With the exception of some interest free
loans provided by FBG Limited and transfer of the benefit of income 
tax losses for no consideration between Group companies, these
transactions were on commercial terms and conditions. 
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Note 32 Related party disclosures (continued) 1998 1997 1998 1997
FBG Limited Consolidated

Aggregate number of ordinary shares in the chief entity held by 
directors of FBG Limited and their director-related entities at year end 418,910 418,514 

Aggregate number of partly paid shares in the chief entity held by 
directors of FBG Limited and their director-related entities at year end 300,000 300,000 

Aggregate number of options over unissued ordinary shares in the
chief entity held by executive directors of FBG Limited and their 
director-related entities at year end 3,600,000 3,600,000 

Aggregate number of J.B. Were Capital Markets Limited Exchangeable 
Unsecured Notes of $3.00 each held by directors of FBG Limited and 
their director-related entities at year end 280,000 - 

Other than transactions arising from the FBG Employee Share and 
Option Plan, the above transactions were conducted on terms and 
conditions no more favourable than those offered to other shareholders 
of FBG Limited.

Amounts receivable and payable $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Amounts receivable at reporting date from directors
- current - share plan loans 26 10 26 10
- non-current - share plan loans 475 184 475 184

other related parties
- current 5,078 8,240 
- non-current - 13,390 

Other than Employee Share Plan Loans, which are interest free, all the 
abovementioned loans to directors were made to Group employees who 
are directors of Group entities and have been made on a commercial 
basis with the interest rates applicable being determined by reference
to market rates.

Amounts payable at reporting date to other related parties
- current 700 1,090 
- non-current - 118

Other transactions of executive directors of controlled entities and their director-related entities
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Note 33 Group entities
The FBG Group has a 100% ownership interest in the following entities for the current and the prior year except where noted: 

Country Country

of Incorporation of Incorporation

Airport Trinity Inc. 2 USA Bevcorp Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Alagon Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Bilyara Vineyards Pty. Ltd. Australia

Alagon Unit Trust Australia Bourse du Vin International B.V. 1,2,6 Netherlands

Aldershot Nominees Pty. Ltd. Australia Brewing Holdings Limited Australia

ALH (Victoria) Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Brewing Investments Limited Australia

ALH (WA) Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Brewman CBL Limited 2 England

ALH Group Pty. Ltd. Australia Brewman CBS Limited 2 England

Alston Glen Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Brewman Eastern Limited 2 England

Amayana Pty. Ltd. Australia Brewman Group Limited England

Amberton Wines Pty. Ltd. 1,6 Australia Brewman JSTB Limited 2 England

AML&F Holdings Limited Australia Brewman MNB Limited 2 England

Amwex Inc. 1,2,6 USA Brewman NBC Limited 2 England

Anglemaster Limited England Brewman Overseas Limited England

Arnade Pty. Limited 3 Australia Brewman PBC Limited 2 England

Ashwick (NT) No. 2 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Brewman SW Limited 2 England

Ashwick (NT) No. 7 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Brewman SWW Limited 2 England

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 1 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Brewman TL Limited 2 England

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 9 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Brewman WT Limited 2 England

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 12 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Brewman WW Limited 2 England

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 14 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Brewprops (Alpha) Limited 2 England

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 15 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Brewprops (Beta) Limited 2 England

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 16 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Brewprops (Delta) Limited 2 England

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 17 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Brewprops (Epsilon) Limited 2 England

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 18 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Brewprops (Kappe) Limited 2 England

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 29 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Brewprops (Landa) Limited 2 England

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 30 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Brewprops (Nu) Limited 2 England

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 35 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Brewprops (Omnion) Limited 2 England

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 73 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Brewprops (Zeta) Limited 2 England

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 74 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Brewtech Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 83 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Bright Star Investments Limited Australia

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 95 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Brokenback Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 96 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia C.F.L. Securities Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 127 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Caboolture Waters Pty. Ltd. (formerly Pierse Pty. Ltd.) 3 Australia

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 129 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Caloundra Downs Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 167 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Camberwell Hotels Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Ashwick (Vic.) No. 15 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Camwal Limited (in liquidation) 2 England

Ashwick (Vic.) No. 27 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Cardmember Wines Limited 1,6 New Zealand

Ashwick (Vic.) No. 65 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Carlton and United Breweries (N.S.W.) Pty. Limited Australia

Ashwick (Vic.) No. 75 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Carlton and United Breweries (N.Z.) Pty. Ltd. Australia

Ashwick (Vic.) No. 93 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Carlton and United Breweries (New Zealand) Limited New Zealand

Ashwick (Vic.) No. 121 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Carlton and United Breweries (Queensland) Limited Australia

Asmur Pty. Limited Australia Carlton and United Breweries (Stator) Pty. Ltd. Australia

Australian Estates Ltd. Australia Carlton and United Breweries (UK) Limited 2 England

Australian Leisure and Hospitality Group Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Carlton and United Breweries Limited Australia

Australian, Mercantile, Land and Finance Company, Limited Australia Carlton Brewery Hotels (N.R.) Pty. Limited Australia

Australian, Mercantile, London Limited England Carlton Brewery Hotels (Victoria) Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Avilock Limited Australia Carlton Brewery Hotels Pty. Ltd. Australia

B.B.C. Hotels (Campbellfield) Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Carlton Finance Limited Australia

B.B.C. Hotels (Westmeadows) Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Cascade Brewery Company Pty. Ltd. Australia

Babble Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Catering Holdings Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Beitz Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Cellar Door Direct Pty. Limited 1,6 Australia
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Note 33 Group entities (continued)

Country Country

of Incorporation of Incorporation

Cellarmaster Nominees Pty. Limited 1,6 Australia FBG International Limited England

Cellarmaster Wines Europe B.V. 1,2,6 Netherlands FBG Investments Pty. Ltd Australia

Cellarmaster Wines Holdings (U.K.) Limited FBG Treasury (Aust.) Limited Australia

(formerly Brewman CIS Limited) 2 England FBG Treasury (UK) plc England

Cellarmaster Wines Limited 1,6 New Zealand FBG Vietnam Holdings Pty. Ltd. Australia

Cellarmaster Wines Pty. Limited 1,6 Australia Filehaze Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Courlim Properties Limited 2 England Findon Inc. 2 Cayman Islands

Craigburn Land Co. Pty. Ltd. 1,3,6 Australia Finnews Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Craigburn Property Pty. Ltd. 1,3,6 Australia Flanagan’s Run Pty. Ltd. 3,6 Australia

Crintana Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Foster’s Brewing Group (U.S.A.) Limited USA

Crosswhite Investments Limited Australia Foster’s Brewing Group Canada Inc. Canada

CSB Pty. Ltd. Foster’s Brewing Group Limited Australia

(formerly Carlton Special Beverages Company Pty. Ltd.) Australia Foster’s China Limited Australia

Data Co-ordination Centre Inc. - The Wine Exchange 1,2,6 USA Foster’s Danang Limited 1,6 Vietnam

Demener Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Foster’s Tien Giang Limited 1,6 Vietnam

Dennys Strachan Mercantile Limited Australia Galemaze Pty. Ltd. Australia

Derel EMI Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Gapern Enterprises Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Derel ERF Limited Australia Ghalias (BBA) Limited Australia

Derel ESC Limited Australia Glenmore Park Estate Limited (formerly EFG Finance Limited) Australia

Derel Grain Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Glenmore Park Sales Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Derel IT Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Gold Coast Brewery Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Derel QGGA Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Gontai Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Dismin Investments Pty. Ltd. Australia Grand Cru Expertise “De Belgische Wijnbeurs” N.V. 1,2,6 Belgium

Dorsey Center, Inc. 2 USA Grand Cru Expertise “De Nederland Wijnbeurs” B.V. 1,2,6 Netherlands

Doulton Cross Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Great Beers of the World Limited 2 England

Dreamgame Limited England H. Jones & Co. Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

East Doncaster Hotels Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Herlstone Vineyards Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

EFG Australia Limited Australia Horselydown Egham Limited 2 England

EFG Finance Leasing Limited Australia Imagemasters Pty. Ltd. 1,6 Australia

EFG Holdings (USA) Inc. 2 USA Island Cooler Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

EFG Holdings NZ Limited New Zealand J.J. Goller & Co. Proprietary Limited 3 Australia

EFG Investments Limited Australia Jedberg Investments Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

EFG Leasing Limited Australia Kinglingston Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

EFG Properties Inc. 2 USA Kings Festival Corp., Inc. 2 USA

EFG Securities Limited Australia Kranston Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

EFG Services Limited New Zealand Krondorf Wines Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

EFG Treasury Pty. Limited Australia Lachlan Valley Unit Trust Australia

EFGSB UK Limited 2 England Lancastrion Pty. Limited 3 Australia

ELFIC Limited Australia LBC Ontario Inc. 2 USA

Elstone Developments Pty. Ltd. Australia Ledsen Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

ESG (Enterprises) BV Netherlands Lensworth Group Limited Australia

ESG (Enterprises) NV Neth. Ant. Lensworth MPC Pty. Ltd. 1,3,6 Australia

FBG (U.K.) Limited (formerly FBG (U.K.) plc) England Lensworth Northside Pty. Ltd. (formerly Solsom Pty. Ltd.) 3 Australia

FBG Brewery Holdings UK Limited England Lensworth Pine Rivers Pty. Ltd. (formerly Wydill Pty. Ltd.) 3 Australia

FBG Canada Limited 1,6 Canada Lensworth Services Pty. Ltd. Australia

FBG Canadian Treasury Inc. Canada Lensworth Sunshine Coast Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

FBG Credits Limited Australia LIC Industry Center Inc. 2 USA

FBG Equipment Finance Limited Australia Manassas Apartments Inc. (formerly Waterways Apartments Inc.) 4 USA

FBG Finance Limited Australia Mango Hill Development Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

FBG Financial Services Limited Australia Matilda Bay Brewing Co. Ltd. Australia

FBG Holdings (UK) Limited England Matua Finance Limited New Zealand

FBG India Holdings Limited Mauritius Mayefair B.V. 1,2,6 Netherlands

FBG India Holdings Pty. Ltd. 1,3,6 Australia MBL Packaging Pty. Ltd. Australia

Melbourne Brewery Company Pty. Ltd. Australia
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Note 33 Group entities (continued)

Country Country

of Incorporation of Incorporation

Mildara Blass (Europe) Limited Silvester Brothers (TBPAC) Limited New Zealand

(formerly Mildara Blass (UK) Limited) England Silvester Brothers Pty. Limited 3 Australia

Mildara Blass Holdings Inc. Spur Taverns Limited 2 England

(formerly Donbar Wines Incorporated) USA Starada Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Mildara Blass Inc. USA Sylfield Hotels Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Mildara Blass Limited Australia Telemasters Limited 1,6 New Zealand

Mildara Blass Wines Inc. USA Telemasters Pty. Limited 1,6 Australia

Moorabbin Junction Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia The Australian Pubco (NSW) Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

NIFCO Limited (in liquidation) 2 South Africa The Ballarat Brewing Company (Geelong) Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Navistar Group Limited New Zealand The Ballarat Brewing Company Limited Australia

New Crest Investments Pty. Ltd. Australia The Castlemaine Brewery Company Melbourne Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Nexday Pty. Limited 1, 6 Australia The Foster Brewing Company Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Norwood Beach Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia The Redback Brewery (Hotel) Trust Australia

N.T. Brewery Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia The Redback Brewery (Property) Trust Australia

Oakley Park Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia The Redback Brewery Trust Australia

Olaroll Pty. Limited 3 Australia The Rothbury Estate Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Ordimar Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia The Shamrock Brewing Company Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Overload Investments Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Tibsco Limited 

Paracor Finance Inc. 2 USA (formerly The Inntrepreneur Beer Supply Company Limited) England

Park View Motel Proprietary Limited 3 Australia Tibsco Pensions Limited

Paterson Simons & Co. (Malaysia) Sendirian Berhad 4 Malaysia (formerly Inntrepreneur Beer Supply Pensions Company Limited) England

Paterson Simons & Co. (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. 4 Singapore TPP Corp., Inc. 2 USA

Pekrove Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Traclon (No. 2) Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Pica Finance Holdings Limited England Traclon (No. 4) Pty. Limited 1,3,6 Australia

Pica Finance Limited England Traclon (No. 9) Pty. Limited 3 Australia

Pica Real Estate Limited England United Hotels Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Pitt, Son & Badgery Limited Australia VICD - Produtos Em Cortica, LDA 1,6 Portugal

Power Brewing Company Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Victoria Brewery Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Primedan Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Vinpac International Pty. Limited 1,6 Australia

Queensland Breweries (Sales) Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Vintage Estates of Australia Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Queensland Breweries Pty. Ltd. Australia Vintners Imports Limited 1,6 Australia

Queensland Brewery Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Volz Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Quest Technologies Inc. 2 USA Watfield Investments Limited New Zealand

Rimpacific Shipping (UK) Ltd. England Werribee Properties (RWDS) Proprietary Limited 3 Australia

Robertsons Well Joint Venture 8 Australia Werribee Properties (WIE) Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Robertsons Well Pty. Ltd. 3, 8 Australia Westwools Energy Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Robertsons Well Unit Trust 8 Australia Whitecross Investments Limited Australia

Rothbury (Canada) Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Windemere Securities Limited 4 T & C Is.

Rothbury Denman Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Wine Rollover Pty. Limited 1,6 Australia

Rothbury Sales Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Wolf Blass Wines Pty. Ltd. Australia

Rothbury Superannuation Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Wood Hall (Aust.) Pty. Limited 3,5 Australia

Rothbury Vineyards Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Wood Hall Trust plc England

Rothbury Wines Europe Limited England World-Wide Wine B.V. 1,2,6 Netherlands

Rothbury Wines Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Yanaba Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Rumar International Limited Australia Yarra Valley Wine Co. Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Sarl Grand Cru Expertise La Bourse du Vin 1,2,6 France Yarra Valley Wine Holdings Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Sarl Les Crus Prevendus 1,2,6 France Zedoworth Pty. Limited 3 Australia

Savirak Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia Zedozoa Pty. Limited 3 Australia

Seeton Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia 151435 Canada Ltd. 2 Canada

Shortridge Lawton & Company Limited 2 England 18th Street Corp. 2 USA

Silvester Brothers (AMH) Pty. Limited 3 Australia A.C.N. 004 526 523 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia

Silvester Brothers (AMHUK) Limited England A.C.N. 006 327 313 Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia
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Note 33 Group entities (continued)
The FBG Group has a controlling interest in the following entities that are not 100% owned: 

Country Group ownership percentage

of Incorporation 1998 1997

Australian Naturalcare Products Pty. Limited 1,6 Australia 75.0 -

Carlton Brewery (Fiji) Limited 4 Fiji 63.1 63.1

Foster’s India Limited (formerly Raly Breweries Limited) 7 India 74.0 51.0

Foster’s Wheelock Tianjin Investment Company Limited Br. Vgn. Is. 50.0 50.0

Graymoor Estate Joint Venture Australia 48.8 48.8

Graymoor Estate Pty. Ltd. 3 Australia 48.8 48.8

Graymoor Estate Unit Trust Australia 48.8 48.8

Guangdong Foster’s Brewery Limited China 95.0 95.0

Shanghai Foster’s Brewery Limited China 90.0 90.0

South Pacific Distilleries Limited 1,4,6 Fiji 50.8 -

Tianjin Foster’s Brewery Company Limited China 46.3 46.3

Entities no longer controlled 

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 91 Pty. Ltd. Cogvest Proprietary Limited

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 113 Pty. Ltd. Cowistho Proprietary Limited

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 142 Pty. Ltd. Dewbit Pty. Ltd.

Ashwick (Qld.) No. 166 Pty. Ltd. Doveton Hotels Pty. Ltd.

B.B.C. (Waurn Ponds) Pty. Ltd. Echoin Limited

B.B.C. Hotels (Bendigo) Pty. Ltd. Farnham Estates Limited

B.B.C. Hotels (Brooklyn) Pty. Ltd. Ferntree Gully Motels Pty. Ltd.

B.B.C. Hotels (Deer Park) Pty. Ltd. Finrust Pty. Ltd.

B.B.C. Hotels (Echuca) Pty. Ltd. Florida Waterways Inc.

B.B.C. Hotels (Operations) Pty. Ltd. Footscray Hotels Pty. Ltd.

B.B.C. Hotels (Robinvale) Pty. Ltd. Hacienda Tavern (Ferngully) Trust

B.B.C. Hotels (Shepparton) Pty. Ltd. Keysborough Hotels Pty. Ltd.

B.B.C. Hotels (Somerville) Pty. Ltd. LBC Poway Inc.

B.B.C. Hotels (Sunbury) Pty. Ltd. Metro Hotels Pty. Ltd.

B.B.C. Hotels (Swan Hill) Pty. Ltd. Middle Ridge Corporation

B.B.C. Hotels (Traralgon) Pty. Ltd. Mindis Investments BV

Baypit Pty. Ltd. Mindis NV

Bayswater Hotels Pty. Ltd. Mitcham Pubco Pty. Ltd.

Blackburn Hotels Pty. Ltd. Mt Martha Hotels Pty. Ltd.

Brewman Central Limited Norlane Investments Proprietary Limited

Brewman HGS Limited Pavon Investments Inc.

Buroba Pty. Ltd. Rothbury Wines (NZ) Limited

Canbrew Treasury (U.S.), Inc. TIBSCO Investments Limited

Carling O’Keefe Breweries of Canada Limited Traclon (No. 16) Pty. Ltd.

1. These entities were acquired during the current financial year.

2. Foreign incorporated entity audited as part of a group by a PricewaterhouseCoopers firm.

3. Entity not audited individually as it is a small proprietary company not required to prepare 

financial statements.

4. Entity audited by a firm other than PricewaterhouseCoopers or their affiliates.

5. Entity is relieved from the requirement to prepare audited financial statements by ASIC 

Class Order (97/0566) dated 24 April 1997.

6. Entity audited by a firm other than PricewaterhouseCoopers or their affiliates in 1997.

7. The Group has an option agreement with Raly Investors Partners, L.P. This agreement will 

result in a change to the Group’s effective ownership interest in Foster’s India Limited from 

74% to 64% when the option is exercised. The option can only be exercised after June 2003. 

The current year financial results have been prepared using an effective Group ownership 

interest in Foster’s India Limited of 64%. 

8. The Group ownership interest was 70% in 1997.

None of the foreign controlled entities were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Australian firm. 

Entities in which the Group’s ownership interest is 50 per cent or less are consolidated where 

the Group has the capacity to control the entities or has the capacity to enjoy the majority of the

benefits and to be exposed to the majority of the risks of the entity.
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Note 33 Group entities (continued)

Acquisitions/Disposals of controlled entities
The following entities were acquired or disposed of during the financial year: 

Proportion of 
shares acquired 

Entities acquired Consideration during the year
$m %

Cellarmaster Wines Group 165.4 100.0
Foster’s Vietnam entities, comprising 78.7 100.0

Foster’s Danang Limited 
Foster’s Tien Giang Limited

Bourse du Vin International Group 44.5 100.0
South Pacific Distilleries Limited 4.7 50.8
Traclon (No. 4) Pty. Ltd. 0.5 50.0
TIBSCO Investments Limited - 100.0
Craigburn Land Co. Pty. Ltd. - 50.0
Craigburn Property Pty. Ltd. - 50.0
In addition, 6 entities were incorporated during the year as controlled entities. 

Profit on Remaining
Entities disposed of by sale disposal interest held

$m %
Molson Breweries partnership group of companies: 480.0 - 

Mindis NV
Mindis Investments BV
Carling O’Keefe Breweries of Canada Limited

Buroba Pty. Ltd. - - 
Norlane Investments Proprietary Limited - - 
In addition, 43 controlled entities were liquidated or deregistered during the year. 

Entities acquired subsequent to year end 
Subsequent to the end of the financial year the Group acquired 100% 
of the Austotel Trust for a total outlay, including borrowings, of approximately 
$300 million. The principal activity of this group is in the leisure and 
hospitality industry.
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We, John Theodore Ralph and Edward Thomas Kunkel, being two
directors of Foster’s Brewing Group Limited, state on behalf of the
directors and in accordance with a resolution of the directors that in 
the opinion of the directors

(a) the accompanying accounts of the Company give a true 
and fair view of:
- the profit of the Company for the year ended 30 June 1998; and
- the state of affairs of the Company at 30 June 1998;

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe
that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
fall due;

(c) the consolidated accounts have been made out in accordance with 
Divisions 4A and 4B of Part 3.6 of the Corporations Law and give 
a true and fair view of the matters with which they deal.

Dated at Melbourne this 24th day of August 1998

On behalf of the Board

John T Ralph 
Chairman 

E T (Ted) Kunkel 
President 
and Chief Executive Officer

Statement by Directors
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Scope
We have audited the financial statements of Foster’s Brewing Group
Limited (the Company) for the financial year ended 30 June 1998 as
set out on pages 50 to 87. The financial statements consist of the
accounts of the Company and the consolidated accounts of the
economic entity comprising the Company and the entities it controlled 
at the end of, or during, the financial year. The Company’s directors are
responsible for the preparation and presentation of the financial
statements and the information they contain. We have conducted an
independent audit of these financial statements in order to express an
opinion on them to the members of the Company.

Our audit has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing
Standards to provide reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. Our procedures included
examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting the amounts and
other disclosures in the financial statements, and the evaluation of
accounting policies and significant accounting estimates. These
procedures have been undertaken to form an opinion whether, in all
material respects, the financial statements are presented fairly in
accordance with Accounting Standards and other mandatory
professional reporting requirements and statutory requirements so as 
to present a view which is consistent with our understanding of the
company’s and the economic entity’s financial position, the results of
their operations and their cash flows. 

The names of the entities controlled during all or part of, or at the end of,
the financial year, but of which we have not acted as auditor is identified
in note 33 to the financial statements. We have, however, received
sufficient information and explanations concerning these controlled
entities to enable us to form an opinion on the consolidated accounts.

The audit opinion expressed in this report has been formed on 
the above basis.

Audit Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements of the Company are properly
drawn up: 

(a) so as to give a true and fair view of:
(i) the state of affairs as at 30 June 1998 and the profit and cash 

flows for the financial year ended on that date of the Company
and the economic entity; and

(ii) the other matters required by Division 4, 4A, and 4B of 
Part 3.6 of the Corporations Law to be dealt with in the 
financial statements;

(b) in accordance with the provisions of the Corporations Law; and

(c) in accordance with applicable Accounting Standards and other
mandatory professional reporting requirements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants

Paul V Brasher
Partner

Melbourne 24 August 1998

Independent Audit Report 
to the Members of 
Foster’s Brewing Group Limited
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Details of Shareholders and Shareholdings

Holding of securities

Listed securities – 24 August 1998 No. of holders No. of securities % held by top 20
Fully paid ordinary shares 112,762 1,712,683,139 65.57

Unlisted securities – 24 August 1998
Ordinary shares issued under the 1987 Foster’s 
Employee Share Plan and paid to 1.67 cents each Class No. No. of holders No. of shares

Issue price of $5.83 per share 50 255 4,984,140
Issue price of $7.38 per share 51 8 276,300
Issue price of $7.03 per share 52 2 120,000
Issue price of $7.97 per share 53 113 676,020
Issue price of $7.43 per share 54 2 90,000
Issue price of $9.40 per share 55 3 13,200,000
Issue price of $8.30 per share 56 325 1,770,030
Issue price of $7.70 per share 57 57 1,059,600
Issue price of $7.63 per share 58 48 813,840
Issue price of $7.33 per share 59 8 596,961
Issue price of $4.83 per share 60 105 5,174,790
Issue price of $5.00 per share 61 471 2,737,890
Issue price of $4.92 per share 62 194 793,140
Issue price of $4.65 per share 63 25 817,560
Issue price of $4.42 per share 64 409 2,835,300
Issue price of $4.32 per share 65 705 5,459,967

41,405,538

Of the above shares, a total of 5,226,279 shares
are held by FBG Incentive Pty Ltd as trustee for
932 participants in the 1987 Foster’s Employee
Share Plan and 36,179,259 shares are held by 
Group superannuation funds.

Options - 24 August 1998
Options issued under the 1987 Foster’s Employee Share Plan

Employee options exercisable at: No. of shares if options are exercised
- $2.12 per share 13,440,000
- $2.36 per share 900,000
- $2.48 per share 840,000
- $2.73 per share 1,800,000

All the above options are held by FBG Incentive Pty Ltd as trustee 
for 27 participants in the 1987 Foster’s Employee Share Plan.
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Details of Shareholders and Shareholdings (continued)

Distribution of holdings - 24 August 1998
Number held No. of ordinary shareholders
1 - 1,000 41,529*
1,001 - 5,000 56,564
5,001 - 10,000 8,614
10,001 - 100,000 5,699
100,001 and over 356

* Of these, 5,010 ordinary shareholders held less than a marketable parcel of $500 worth of shares 

(142 shares). In accordance with ASX Business Rules, the last sale price of the Company’s shares 

on the ASX on 24 August 1998 was used to determine the number of shares in a marketable parcel.

Twenty largest shareholders – 24 August 1998

No. of % of
fully paid fully paid

ordinary shares ordinary shares

Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited 265,901,106 15.53
Chase Manhattan Nominees Limited 260,347,633 15.20
National Nominees Limited 181,065,444 10.57
ANZ Nominees Limited 68,592,218 4.00
BT Custodial Services Pty Limited (Sub Cus a/c) 47,818,333 2.79
Commonwealth Custodial Services Limited (No 11 Account) 37,062,198 2.16
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 32,651,660 1.91
Queensland Investment Corporation 29,499,414 1.72
SAS Trustee Corporation 29,124,960 1.70
MLC Limited 27,344,708 1.60
AMP Life Limited 26,438,767 1.54
Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited 20,911,918 1.22
ANZ Nominees Limited 18,797,000 1.10
National Nominees Limited 17,927,000 1.05
The National Mutual Life Association of Australasia Limited 12,839,516 0.75
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 12,114,082 0.71
HKBA Nominees Limited 10,186,242 0.59
Perpetual Trustees Victoria Limited 8,607,200 0.50
Permanent Nominees (Aust) Limited 8,151,402 0.48
Perpetual Trustees Victoria Limited 7,768,595 0.45

1,123,149,396 65.57

Substantial shareholder – 24 August 1998

The following shareholder is registered by the Company as a 
substantial shareholder, having declared a relevant interest 
in the number of voting shares shown adjacent at the date 
of giving the notice.

The Capital Group Companies, Inc. 132,662,798
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